
 

FRANKLIN CITY HALL CHAMBERS 

9229 W. LOOMIS ROAD  

FRANKLIN, WISCONSIN 

 

 

                        
PLAN COMMISSION MEETING AGENDA             

Thursday, December 7, 2023 at 6:00 P.M. 

 
A. Call to Order and Roll Call 

B. Approval of Minutes 

1. Approval of regular meeting of November 9, 2023. 

C. Public Hearing Business Matters 

1. Conway Area Exception. Request for lot coverage increase to allow for a detached garage, upon 
property located at 11933 W. Oakwood Drive (749 0055 00). 

2. Master Halco Special Use Amendment/Miscellaneous Application. Request for approval of a 
Special Use Amendment and Miscellaneous Application to allow for a fence wholesaler and 
distributor with indoor and outdoor storage of inventory, light fabrication of gates, and office spaces 
upon property located at 7407 South 27th Street (761 9994 006). 

3. Glander Family Chiropractic Unified Development Ordinance Text Amendment. Request to 

amend Table 15-3.0603 of the Unified Development Ordinance to add Standard Industrial 

Classification Title No. 8041 “Offices and Clinics of Chiropractors” as a Special Use in the M-1 

Limited Industrial District. 

4. Glander Family Chiropractic Special Use. Request for approval of a Special Use to allow for a 

chiropractic office and services business use upon property located at 11217 West Forest Home 

Avenue (748 9961 001). 

5. Boomtown Special Use Amendment. Request to amend a previously approved special use permit 
from 13 two-family homes to 13 single-family homes, upon property located at 12000 W. Loomis 
Road (891 9011 000). 

6. Mr. Green's BBQ Special Use. Request for approval of a Special Use to allow for an approximately 

440 sq. ft. meat-smoker enclosure and overnight parking for a food truck, located at 7740 South 

Lovers Lane Road, Suite 400 (794 9001 000). 

7. AK Developers, LLC Special Use. Request for approval of a Special Use to allow for an 

approximately 3,500 sq. ft. liquor, tobacco, & miscellaneous retail sale use, located at 7730 South 

Lovers Lane Road, Suite 200 (794 9999 007). 

8. On Cloud Wine Special Use. Request for approval of a Special Use to allow for a wine bar in the 

multi-tenant retail building located in the PDD 26 zoning district, located at 10064 West Loomis 

Road (841 0073 000). 

D. Business Matters 

1. Master Halco Site Plan Amendment. Request for approval of various site modifications including 
but not limited to, construction of a 28-stall parking lot, installation of new building and parking lot 
lighting, adding new landscape plantings, and construction of a storm water management pond upon 
property located at 7407 South 27th Street (761 9994 006). 

2. Department of Public Works Site Plan Amendment. Request for approval of a Site Plan 
Amendment to allow for redesign of the existing yard, including development of a new storage 



building and yard waste drop off area, on property located at 7979 W. Ryan Road (896 9990 001). 
Additionally, the applicant is requesting a determination from Plan Commission as to whether the 
proposed storage building may be considered a Principal Structure. This item was tabled at the 
November 9, 2023 meeting to provide for a neighborhood meeting. 

E. Adjournment 
 

The YouTube channel “City of Franklin WI” will be live streaming the Plan Commission meeting so that the public will be able to 

watch and listen to the meeting. https://www.youtube.com/c/CityofFranklinWIGov. Any question regarding items on this agenda 

may be directed to the Department of City Development’s office at 414-425-4024, Monday through Friday, 8:30 AM – 5:00 PM. 

 

 *Supporting documentation and details of these agenda items are available at City hall during normal business hours. 

 

**Notice is given that a majority of the Common Council may attend this meeting to gather information about an agenda item  

over which they have decision-making responsibility.  This may constitute a meeting of the Common Council per State ex rel.  

Badke v. Greendale Village Board, even though the Common Council will not take formal action at this meeting. 

 

  [Note: Upon reasonable notice, efforts will be made to accommodate the needs of disabled individuals through appropriate aids  

  and services.  For additional information, contact the City Clerk’s office at (414) 425-7500.] 

 
  REMINDERS: 

  Next Regular Plan Commission Meeting: December 21, 2023. 

https://www.youtube.com/c/CityofFranklinWIGov


  

City of Franklin unapproved 

Plan Commission Meeting 

November 9, 2023 

Minutes 

 

A. Call to Order and Roll Call 

Mayor John Nelson called the November 9, 2023 Plan Commission meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. 

in the Council Chambers at Franklin City Hall, 9229 West Loomis Road, Franklin, Wisconsin.  

 

Present were Mayor John Nelson, Alderwoman Courtney Day (arrived at 6:10), City Engineer Glen 

Morrow and Commissioners Patrick Leon, Kevin Haley and Michael Shawgo. Also present were 

City Attorney Jesse Wesolowski, Associate Planner Marion Ecks and Planning Associate Nick Fuchs.  

Excused was Commissioner Patricia Hogan. 

 

B. Approval of Minutes – Regular Meeting of October 19, 2023 

Commissioner Leon moved and Commissioner Haley seconded a motion to approve the October 

19, 2023 meeting minutes. On voice vote, all voted ‘aye’; motion carried (54-0-12). 

 

Approval of Minutes – Special Meeting of October 24, 2023 

Commissioner Haley moved and City Engineer Morrow seconded a motion to approve the  

October 24, 2023 meeting minutes. On voice vote, all voted ‘aye’; motion carried (54-0-21). 

 

C. Public Hearing Business Matters 

 

1.    Master Halco Special Use Amendment/Miscellaneous Application. Request for approval 

of a Special Use Amendment and Miscellaneous Application to allow for a fence wholesaler 

and distributor with indoor and outdoor storage of inventory, light fabrication of gates, and 

office spaces upon property located at 7407 South 27th Street (761 9994 006).  

 

 The applicant requested that C.1. be tabled and continue the public hearing to December 7, 

2023 Plan Commission meeting.  

 

Planning Associate Fuchs presented the development and Special Use Amendment and 

Miscellaneous application.   

 

The Official Notice of Public Hearing for a Special Use Amendment was read in to the record 

by Fuchs and the Public Hearing opened at 6:06 p.m.  

 

 Commissioner Leon moved and Commissioner Haley seconded a motion to continue the 

public hearing for the Special Use Amendment and Miscellaneous application to the 

December 7, 2023 meeting. On voice vote, all voted ‘aye’; motion carried (54-0-12). 

 

 

 



  

 

 

F.D.  Business Matters 

 

1.     Master Halco Site Plan Amendment. Request for approval of various site modifications 

including but not limited to, construction of a 28-stall parking lot, installation of new 

building and parking lot lighting, adding new landscape plantings, and construction of a 

storm water management pond upon property located at 7407 South 27th Street (761 9994 

006).  

 

 Commissioner Leon moved and City Engineer Morrow seconded a motion to table D.1. to 

the next meeting. On voice vote, all voted ‘aye’; motion carried (54-0-21). 

 

C.    Public Hearing Business Matters 

 

2.    BadAx Flats, LLC Special Use. Request for approval of a Special Use to allow for a beer and 

wine sales establishment with an outdoor wine and beer garden upon property located at 

7160 South Ballpark Drive (754 9006 000). 

 

Planning Associate Fuchs presented the Special Use and Site Plan. Noted is a condition 

related to hours of operation. 

 

Applicant Emily Caldini, of Land by Label, spoke giving a company background of Three 

Cellars as an operator of an establishment that serves local beer & wine, and including the 

sale of snacks, but no food.  

 

Alderwoman Day arrived at 6:10 p.m. 

 

The Official Notice of Public Hearing for a Special Use was read in to the record by Fuchs 

and the Public Hearing opened at 6:13 p.m.  

 

Resident Dana Gindt had questions and concerns regarding: 

o Noise mitigation 

o UDO requirements that alcohol establishments not be close to residential 

development 

o Objects to PDD 37 – other development on property is out of compliance 

o Requesting continued review of Site Plan 

o Continued comments on Site Plan 

o Overall compliance of the development with PDD 37 

 

     Resident Dale Kirner had concerns about: 

o Noise and quality of life 

o Accountability for noise level at the property lines 



  

o Comment about volume of Tacos & Tequila event; the property owner assured 

residents that this would not be too loud 

 

 

Mayor Nelson responded that Tacos & Tequila event planners were responsible for the noise 

issues, not the property owner. 

 

     Resident Kirner commented this could have been addressed at time of violation. 

 

Greendale resident Kleist expressed concerns about live music noise and protection for the      

neighbors. 

 

The public hearing was closed at 6:24.   

 

Commissioner Leon was seeking an answer from the applicant regarding outdoor music and 

what precautions are in place to control noise and lights. 

 

Applicant Caldini explained the photometrics plan was provided in the Site Plan. The 

operator is a relaxed environment that includes a lounge with no televisions or loud music. 

 

Commissioner Leon asked if there will be outdoor music or live music with speakers. 

 

Applicant Caldini, and Ian Martin of Land by Label commented they are unsure at this time. 

 

Applicant Martin stated that they are not asking to deviate from existing guidelines for 

noise. 

 

Alderwoman Day had comments and questions relating to: 

o acoustic music/type of music 

o decibel limit and distance requirements  

o prepackaged food versus prepared food on site 

o outdoor patio – same schedule  

 

Applicant Caldini confirmed that the venue would only be serving prepackaged food; and 

that the patio would be on the same schedule as the rest of the business. 

 

Planning Associate Fuchs commented that requirements relating to noise and distance are in 

the UDO, and are separate from PDD 37. 

 

City Engineer Morrow commented the Special Use is specific to alcohol. 

 

Commissioner Leon asked if there have been any violations by Three Cellars in the past at 

their previous location in Franklin.  

 



  

Commissioner Haley asked if a status of a sound report from Milwaukee County could be 

brought to Plan Commission.  

 

Planning Associate Fuchs read the motion.  

 

Commissioner Leon moved and City Engineer Morrow seconded a motion to adopt a 

Resolution approving a Special Use for a beer and wine sales establishment with an outdoor 

wine and beer garden upon property located at 7160 South Ballpark Drive (BadAx Flats, LLC, 

applicant). On voice vote, all voted ‘aye’; motion carried (65-0-01). 

 

 

D.   Business Matters 

 

3.   City of Franklin Amendment to Planned Development District (PDD) No. 37. Request to 

amend Table 15-3.0442C.1. and Table 15-3.0442D.2. related to the Minimum Total Living Area 

per Residential Apartment Dwelling Unit and to reduce the minimum required dwelling unit 

size for one-bedroom dwelling units from 700 square feet to 600 square feet.  

 

 Planning Associate Fuchs presented this item with staff’s recommendation. The amendment is 

due to an error in PDD tables of the UDO related to dwelling unit size.  

 

 City Attorney Wesolowski questioned if the request is a Minor Planned Development District 

Amendment or a Major Planned Development District Amendment. Wesolowski indicated 

there must be a vote on whether it is a Minor or Major amendment. 

 

 Commissioner Leon asked does suspending the rules allow for a public hearing.  

 

 City Attorney Wesolowski responded no, it must include a published notice.  

 

 Applicant Martin questioned is this a substantial change or change in use? 

 

 City Attorney Wesolowski, Associate Planner Ecks, Commissioner Leon and City Engineer 

Morrow made additional comments on the discussion of Minor versus Major Amendment. 

 

 Motion #1 

At 6:48 p.m., on roll call vote, Commissioner Leon moved and Commissioner Haley seconded 

a motion to suspend rules to allow for public input. On voice vote, all voted ‘aye’; motion 

carried (65-0-01). 

 

Resident Dana Gindt does not support the change. Asked how does this impact the TID 

requirements of a maximum percentage of residential development in a TID. 

 

Motion #2 



  

Commissioner Leon moved and Alderwoman Day seconded a motion to return to normal 

business. On voice vote, all voted ‘aye’; motion carried (65-0-01). 

 

Motion #3 

Commissioner Leon moved and Alderwoman Day seconded a motion to determine the 

proposed Planned Development District Amendment to be a Minor Amendment. On voice 

vote, all voted ‘aye’; motion carried (65-0-01). 

 

Motion #4 

Commissioner Leon moved and City Engineer Morrow seconded a motion to adopt an 

ordinance amending Table 15-3.0442C.1. and Table 15-3.0442D.2. related to the minimum 

total living area per residential apartment dwelling unit and to reduce the minimum required 

dwelling unit size for one-bedroom dwelling units from 700 to 600 square feet.  On voice 

vote, all voted ‘aye’; motion carried (65-0-01)). 

 

2.    BadAx Flats, LLC Site Plan. Request for approval of a Site Plan to allow for the construction 

of a mixed-use multi-family and commercial building upon property located at 7160 South 

Ballpark Drive (754 9006 000). Additionally, the applicant is requesting the following waivers:  

 

a) Ordinance 2019-2368, Table 15-3.0442C.1, to allow for a front setback of 10 feet, 

opposed to the minimum front setback of 25 feet. 

b) Ordinance 2019-2368, Table 15-3.0442EB3.a. to reduce the required number of 

minimum plantings. 

 

 Planning Associate Fuchs presented the Site Plan for BadAx Flats, LLC. The Site Plan was 

previously tabled at the June 22, 2023 Plan Commission meeting due to issues related to 

dwelling unit size, landscaping requirements and trash enclosure details. A Special Use has 

already been approved. Staff is recommending approval of waivers. 

 

 City Attorney Wesolowski suggested to add that this approval be conditioned on approval of 

the Minor Planned Development District Amendment.  

 

 City Engineer Morrow indicated that the project will need stormwater approval by the 

County and engineering. 

 

 Alderwoman Day commented on parking and landscaping. Will there be removal of surface 

parking?  

 

 Applicant Martin objected to condition of the Planned Development District Amendment 

because the Special Use already approved 78 units.  

 

Commissioner Leon moved and Alderwoman Day seconded a motion to adopt a Resolution 

approving a Site Plan Amendment to allow for the construction of a mixed-use multi-family 



  

and commercial building upon property located at 7160 South Ballpark Drive (BadAx Flats, 

LLC, applicant). On voice vote, all voted ‘aye’; motion carried (6-0-0[NF1]). 

 

a) Ordinance 2019-2368, Table 15-3.0442C.1, to allow for a front setback of 10 feet, opposed 

to the minimum front setback of 25 feet.  

 

Commissioner Leon moved and Commissioner Haley seconded a motion to approve a 

waiver from Ordinance 2019-2368, table 15-3.0442C.1, to allow for a front setback of 10 feet, 

opposed to the minimum front setback of 25 feet. On voice vote, all voted ‘aye’; motion 

carried (6-0-0). 

 

b) Ordinance 2019-2368, Table 15-3.0442EB3.a. to reduce the required number of minimum 

plantings. 

 

 Commissioner Leon moved and Alderwoman Day seconded a motion to approve a waiver    

from Ordinance 2019-2368, table 15-3.0442EB3.A. to reduce the required number of 

minimum plantings. On voice vote, all voted ‘aye’; motion carried (65-0-01). 

 

Commissioner Leon moved and Alderwoman Day seconded a motion to adopt a Resolution 

approving a Site Plan Amendment to allow for the construction of a mixed-use multi-family 

and commercial building upon property located at 7160 South Ballpark Drive (BadAx Flats, 

LLC, applicant). On voice vote, all voted ‘aye’; motion carried (5-0-1[NF2]). 

 

 

4.   Department of Public Works Site Plan Amendment. Request for approval of a Site Plan 

Amendment to allow for redesign of the existing yard, including development of a new 

storage building and yard waste drop off area, on property located at 7979 W. Ryan Road 

(896 9990 001). Additionally, the applicant is requesting a determination from Plan 

Commission as to whether the proposed storage building may be considered a Principal 

Structure. 

 

 City Engineer Morrow presented the Site Plan Amendment indicating baseball diamonds are 

part of Department of Public Works lot and the yard is now being developed. Screening will 

be provided for neighbors to the south. Long term, there will be an additional expansion.  

 

 Applicant’s representative John Wellenkamp added that there is a landscaping berm on the 

south end of the lot that will be part of the site development. Bids are due November 14, 

2023. 

 

 Associate Planner Ecks added additional details of the application and discussion of the 

necessary zoning determination. 

 

 Commissioner Leon asked if a public hearing is required for this? O could the City offer public 

engagement such as a neighborhood meeting with the Alderperson. 



  

 

 Commissioner Leon moved and Commissioner Shawgo seconded a motion to table this item 

to the December 7, 023 meeting so staff and Alderperson can get feedback from the 

neighborhood regarding visual and sound deflection. On voice vote, all voted ‘aye’; motion 

carried (65-0-01). 

 

It is noted the Resolution should clarify “City Application.” 

 

 Commissioner Haley also commented on the proposed future addition to primary structure 

and that noise mitigation requires a solid structure.  

 

5.   WE Energies Site Plan Amendment. Request for approval of a Site Plan Amendment to  

allow for a redesigned atrium including entryway, landscaping, and patio, on property located 

at 4800 W Rawson Rd. (740 9988 006). 

 

 Associate Planner Ecks presented the Site Plan Amendment.  

 

Commissioner Leon moved and Commissioner Shawgo seconded a motion to adopt a 

Resolution approving a Site Plan Amendment for the redesign of the front entrance of the 

WE Energies service center, upon property located at 4800 West Rawson Avenue (by Ryan 

Lee, WEC Energy Group, applicant, WI Electric Power Co, property owner)). On voice vote, all 

voted ‘aye’; motion carried (65-0-10). 

 

E.    Adjournment 

Commissioner Leon moved and Commissioner Haley seconded to adjourn the meeting at 7:40  

p.m. On voice vote, all voted ‘aye’; motion carried (65-0-01). 



C I T Y  O F  F R A N K L I N       
REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION 

 
Meeting of December 7, 2023 

 
Area Exception 

Item C.1. 

RECOMMENDATION: City Development Staff recommends approval of this Area Exception 
request to increase the lot coverage to 17.65%, while the maximum lot coverage permitted as of 
right is 15%.   

Project name: Conway, Area Exception 
Property Owner: Conway, Thomas C. 
Applicant: Conway, Thomas C. 
Property Address/TKN: 11933 W. Oakwood Dr. / 749 0055 000 
Aldermanic District: District 6 
Zoning District: R-3 – Suburban/Estate Single-Family Residence District  
Staff Planner: Régulo Martínez-Montilva, AICP, CNUa, Principal Planner 

 
INTRODUCTION: 
Area Exception to allow for a lot coverage of 17.65% (4,228 square feet) for the installation of a 
detached garage, exceeding the R-3 maximum lot coverage standard of 15% (3,594 square feet). 
The area of the subject property is 23,958 square feet. The existing residence, attached garage, 
deck, and detached shed cover approximately 3,718 sq. ft. The proposed detached garage would 
be 720 sq. ft.  The existing detached shed of 210 square feet is planned for removal. 
 
PROJECT ANALYSIS: 
The process to grant an Area Exception involves review and recommendation of the Plan 
Commission followed by approval by the Board of Zoning and Building Appeals.  

 
Per Section 15-10.0209, Area Exceptions may be granted to increase the maximum lot 
coverage by no more than 20%. Section 15-10.0209.G. of the Unified Development 
Ordinance (UDO) specifically lists Standards to be reviewed to grant or deny an Area 
Exception, which the Plan Commission and Board of Zoning and Building Appeals will 
use to consider the request. 
 
Lot coverage is defined as “the area of a zoning lot occupied by the principal building or 
buildings, accessory structure(s) and accessory building(s)”. For example, structures that 
count towards lot coverage include: principal buildings or dwellings, garages, sheds, 
swimming pools and associated paved surfaces within four feet from the pool, decks, any 
structures with a cover or canopy, etc. This Lot Coverage definition should not be 
confused with Impervious Surface Ratio (ISR) as driveways and walkways count towards 
ISR but not for lot coverage. 
 
 



 2 

Maximum lot coverage calculation: 
• The property area is 23,958 square feet (sq. ft.).  
• Per UDO Table 15-3.0204, the maximum lot coverage is 15% in the R-3 Suburban/Estate 

Single-Family Residence District where the subject property is located. Based on the 
property area, the maximum lot coverage for this property is 3,594 sq. ft. 

• The existing lot coverage of the dwelling, attached garage, deck, and detached shed is 16% 
(3,718 sq. ft.), specifically dwelling and attached garage (2,806 sq. ft.), deck (702 sq. ft.), and 
detached shed (210 sq. ft.).  

• The proposed detached garage for which this Area Exception has been requested would be 
720 sq. ft.  The construction of the proposed detached garage, and removal of the existing 
detached shed (210 sq. ft.) would result in a lot coverage of 17.65% (4,228 sq. ft.). 

• With approval of an Area Exception, the maximum lot coverage may be increased up to 20% 
over the maximum permitted lot coverage in this zoning district (15%), resulting in 18% 
(4,312 sq. ft.). Therefore, this request falls within the allowable increase if the Area 
Exception is granted. 

 
The proposed detached garage is setback 30 feet from the rear lot line (south) and 10 feet 
from the side lot line (west) which is in compliance with the minimum required setbacks 
in the R-3 zoning district. 
 
The subject property is located in the Woodcrest Acres subdivision platted in 1952, the 
plat depicts a 12-foot utility easement along the rear lot line, half of this easement is 
located on the subject property. The proposed garage location is not encroaching into this 
easement.   
 
SITE COMPLIANCE 
A site visit was performed as part of the staff report preparation process. No compliance issues 
were discovered during the site visit besides lot coverage. 
 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
City Development Staff recommends approval of this Area Exception request to increase the lot 
coverage to 17.65%, while the maximum lot coverage permitted as of right is 15%, with the 
conditions that there is no home occupation in any accessory structures, including the proposed 
detached garaged, and that the existing detached shed is removed. 

















10'-0"10'-0"

13
'-1

1"1'-0"1'-0"

6
12

NE
W

 C
ON

ST
RU

CT
IO

N

PROPOSED FLOOR 
PLAN, BUILDING 
SECTION & 
EXTERIOR 
ELEVATIONS

REVISIONS:

DRAWN

CHECKED

DATE

GE

A1

JOB NO.

SHEET  

OF

SHEET TITLE

2023.01.24

GE

AM
ER

IC
AN

 G
AR

AG
E 

BU
IL

DE
RS

-C
ON

W
AY

11
93

3 
OA

KW
OO

D 
DR

FR
AN

KL
IN

 W
I 5

31
32

14 JULY 2023

PROPOSED GARAGE FLOOR PLAN
SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

CHOSEN WALL BRACING @ GARAGE DOOR 
WALLS

REAR ELEVATION
SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

FRONT ELEVATION
SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

TYPICAL PARTIAL WALL SECTION
SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

CHOSEN 
WALL 
BRACING 
METHOD

1'
-0

"

1'
-0

"

1'-0"1'-0"

10'-0"10'-0"

4" ALUM FASCIA 
1X4 SUB-FASCIA
VINYL SOFFIT
ALUM GUTTERS (TYP)

2X MFGR'D STORAGE
TRUSSES @ 24" OC  (TYP)

DIMENSIONAL SHINGLES
15# BUILDING FELT
1/2" OSB SHEATHING W/ CLIPS (TYP)

CONTINUOUS RIDGE VENT (TYP)

12" X 12" CONT CONC 
GRADE BEAM W/ (2) 1/2" 
DIA STL REBAR (TYP)

3 
1/

2"

3 
1/

2"

VINYL SIDING & TRIM
BUILDING WRAP
7/16" OSB SHEATHING
2X4 STUD WALL @ 16" OC (TYP)

2'-0"2'-0"

1/2" DIA X 4" ANCHOR BOLTS 
@ 4'-0" OC GROUTED SOLID 
2X4 TREATED SILL PLATE
FOAM SILL SEALER (TYP)

RIGHT ELEVATION
SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

LEFT ELEVATION
SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

2'
-0

"

2'-0" PF2'-0" PF

4'
-0

" W
SP

4'
-0

" W
SP

4'
-0

" W
SP

2'
-0

" P
F

4'-0" WSP4'-0" WSP

20'-0"

8'
-0

"

4" CONC SLAB W/ 3/8" 
DIA STL @ 24" O.C. (TYP)

13
'-1

1"

16'-0" X 7'-0" OH DR 
SLOPE OHD SILL 1/2"

GARAGE
8'-0" CEILING HGT
CONC SLAB

6"6"

1'-0"1'-0"

1'-0"1'-0"

6"6"
1'-0"1'-0"

6
12

36
'-0

"

3'
-0

"

7'
-0

"

6'
-6

"
3'

-0
"

16
'-0

" F
LA

T 
SL

AB

2'
-3

"
2'

-0
"

17
'-3

"

24
X2

4 
VS

2'
-0

"

16'-0"

27
'-0

"

24
X2

4 
VS

3/4" O.S.B. T&G DECKING (TYP)

4'
-0

" S
TA

IR
 O

PE
N

IN
G

10'-0"10'-0"

13
'-1

1"1'-0"1'-0"

6
12

18'-0"18'-0"

13
'-1

1" 6"6"

18'-0" 18'-0"

13
'-1

1"6" 6"



1

 C I T Y  O F  F R A N K L I N  

REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION 

Meeting of December 7, 2023 
Special Use Amendment, Miscellaneous Application, and Site Plan Amendment 

RECOMMENDATION:  City Development Staff recommends the Plan Commission forward the 
Special Use application to the Common Council for decision based upon the recommended draft 
Resolution and approve the Site Plan Amendment Application.   

Project Name: Master Halco  

Property Owner: Platt Construction Inc.

Applicant: Mike Uhl, Master Halco  

Property Address/Tax Key Number:  7407 S 27th St./ 761 9994 006 

Aldermanic District: District 4 

Agent: Luke Sebald, Keller Inc. 

Zoning District: B-4 South 27th St Mixed Use Commercial District 

Use of Surrounding Properties: B-4 S. 27th St Mixed Use Commercial District (north),  

BP Business Park and OL-1 Office Overlay (south),  

R-6 Suburban Single-Family Residence and OL-1 Office 

Overlay (west), 

City of Oak Creek (east) 

Application Request: To allow for a fence wholesale and distribution use with 

light fabrication and outdoor storage and associated site 

changes. 

Staff Planner: Nick Fuchs, Planning Associate

Background 

The applicant, Master Halco, is seeking Special Use Amendment/Miscellaneous Application and Site 
Plan Amendment approval to operate a fence wholesale and distribution use with light fabrication and 
outdoor storage. The Special Use and Site Plan Amendment are described in detail further below. 

The site is currently being utilized by Platt Construction, which first obtained Special Use approval in 
1992 via Resolution No. 92-3753. This Special Use allowed for an “outdoor construction yard and 
storage in conjunction with an office building and indoor storage building.” 

The proposed use is similar in nature and will utilize the site and building in manner consistent with the 
original special use approval.  

SPECIAL USE 

The subject property is zoned B-4 South 27th Street Mixed Use Commercial District. Master Halco 
anticipates approximately 12 to 15 employees and hours of operation between 7:00 a.m. and 4:30 p.m. 
Monday through Friday. 

The applicant has indicated that the business is not generally open to the public and sales are business to 
business. The majority of the product is stored outside within the storage yard located to the west of the 

Item C.2./D.1. 



2

main building. This building will contain space for light fabrication of gates, racked storage, and office 
space.  

The applicant has provided responses to the Special Use standards listed within Section 15-3.0701 of the 
UDO for Plan Commission and Common Council review.  

SITE PLAN 

The applicant is proposing a variety of site modifications. The building is also proposed to be painted 
as illustrated on the attached elevations.  

The site changes include, but are not limited to: 
 Relocating light poles, removing a walkway, and removing trees to construct a new 27-stall 

parking lot in front of the principal building adjacent to South 27th Street. 
o Parking spaces are 9’ wide and 19’ in length (171 square feet). It appears a 20’ long 

parking space could be achieved with adjustments to the design, in part by reducing the 
drive aisle to 24-feet. Staff recommends parking spaces be a minimum of 9’ wide and 
180 square feet in compliance with Section 15-5.0202 of the UDO. It can be noted that 
allowance for slightly shorter parking spaces has been allowed in past developments 
with the consideration of an overhang when parking spaces are abutting a curb.   

 Removing parking lot landscape islands that are located to the north of the building. 
 Adding 18 deciduous trees, 8 evergreen trees, and 127 shrubs, which is in conformance with 

landscaping quantity requirements of the UDO.   
 Adding building lighting, including lighting on the multiple sheds located to the west of the 

main building and to the rear of the main building. 
 Adding parking lot lighting for the new parking lot. 
 Construction of a storm water pond at the southwest corner of the property. 
 Proposing to add crushed gravel and concrete on the west side of the property. 

o The site plan indicates an existing impervious area of 6.168 acres and greenspace of 
2.186 acres. The proposed improvements will result in a total impervious area of 5.753 
acres and greenspace of 2.601 acres. Staff finds that the increase in greenspace is due to 
the proposed storm water pond. With a site size of 8.354 acres, about 2.51 acres of 
greenspace is required per the 0.30 minimum LSR standard of the B-4 District.  

o It can be noted that, in review of historical aerial photography, it is difficult to 
determine the extent of the existing graveled areas over the years. It does appear the 
existing fence location was in place and defined at the time of development. All 
proposed improvements are within this area.   

The applicant also provided a Natural Resource Protection Plan indicating that no protected natural 
resources exist onsite. WDNR mapping was also reviewed and did not show any mapped wetlands 
onsite. 

All B-4 District Development Standards are met. Note South 27th Street Design Overlay District 
Standards do not apply as no new buildings are proposed and no building addition that increases floor 
area by 50% is proposed.  

Staff also finds the proposed modifications are in conformance with Part 5 Design Standards of the 
UDO, except for the parking space size as noted above. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 



3

The Plan Commission may recommend, and the Common Council may impose, conditions and limitations 
on a Special Use application related to use, design and operation (§15-3.0701.D).  

The Department of City Development staff recommends the Plan Commission forward the Special Use 
application to the Common Council for decision based on the recommended draft Resolution as attached. 
The resolution reflects recommended conditions of approval. 

The Department of City Development staff recommends the Plan Commission approve the Site Plan 
Amendment application for the proposed site modifications as depicted on the attached plans. 

Recommended Conditions of Approval 

 Special Use 
o Outdoor storage shall be limited to the fenced-in concrete and gravel area located to 

the west of the principal building and shall be kept in an orderly manner as determined 
by the Zoning Administrator or Plan Commission.  

o No overnight parking of commercial vehicles shall be allowed outside of the storage 
yard located behind or to the west of the principal building.   

 Site Plan 
o Final grading, erosion control, and stormwater management plans shall be approved 

by the Engineering Department prior to any land disturbance activities.  
o Parking spaces shall be a minimum of 9’ wide and 180 square feet in compliance with 

Section 15-5.0202 of the UDO. [This condition must be added to the attached draft 
resolution]



STATE OF WISCONSIN        CITY OF FRANKLIN      MILWAUKEE COUNTY                      

[Draft 11-25-23]
RESOLUTION NO. 2023- 

A RESOLUTION IMPOSING CONDITIONS AND RESTRICTIONS FOR 
THE APPROVAL OF A SPECIAL USE AMENDMENT FOR A FENCE 

WAREHOUSE, DISTRIBUTION, AND FABRICATION BUSINESS USE WITH 
OUTDOOR STORAGE UPON PROPERTY LOCATED AT 7407 SOUTH 27TH 

STREET 
(BY MASTER-HALCO, INC. APPLICANT, 

PLATT CONSTRUCTION INC., PROPERTY 
OWNER) 

WHEREAS, Master-Halco, Inc., having petitioned the City of Franklin for the 
approval of a Special Use Amendment for a fence warehouse, distribution, and fabrication 
business use with outdoor storage upon property located at 7407 S 27th Street, such Special 
Use having been previously approved on February 4, 1992 by Resolution No. 92-3753, 
zoned B-4 South 27th St Mixed Use Commercial District. The property which is the subject 
of the application bears Tax Key No. 761 9994 006 and is more particularly described as 
follows: 

PARCEL 1 OF CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP NO. 5794, RECORDED ON 
JANUARY 14, 1993 ON REEL 2948, IMAGE 745 TO 749 AS DOCUMENT 
NO. 6715343, BEING A DIVISION OF LANDS IN THE SOUTHEAST ¼ 
AND SOUTHWEST ¼ OF THE NORTHEAST ¼ OF SECTION 12, TOWN 
5 NORTH, RANGE 21 EAST, EXCEPTING THEREFROM LANDS 
CONVEYED IN WARRANTY DEED RECORDED AUGUST 21, 2014 AS 
DOCUMENT NO. 10387598, SAID LAND BEING IN THE CITY OF 
FRANKLIN, COUNTY OF MILWAUKEE, STATE OF WISCONSIN. 

WHEREAS, such petition having been duly referred to the Plan Commission of the 
City of Franklin for a public hearing, pursuant to the requirements of §15- 9.0103D. of the 
Unified Development Ordinance, and a public hearing having been held before the Plan 
Commission on the 9th day of November, 2023 and 7th day of December, 2023, and the Plan 
Commission thereafter having determined to recommend that the proposed Special Use 
Amendment be approved, subject to certain conditions, and the Plan Commission further 
finding that the proposed Special Use Amendment upon such conditions, pursuant to §15-
3.0701 of the Unified Development Ordinance, will be in harmony with the purposes of the 
Unified Development Ordinance and the Comprehensive Master Plan; that they will not 
have an undue adverse impact upon adjoining property; that they will not interfere 
with the development of neighboring property; that they will be served adequately by 
essential public facilities and services; that they will not cause undue traffic congestion; and  



MASTER-HALCO, INC. – SPECIAL USE AMENDMENT 

RESOLUTION NO. 2023-  

that they will not result in damage to property of significant importance to nature, history or 
the like; and 

WHEREAS, the Common Council having received such Plan Commission 
recommendation and also having found that the proposed Special Use Amendment, subject 
to conditions, meet the standards set forth under §15-3.0701 of the Unified Development 
Ordinance. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Mayor and Common Council of 
the City of Franklin, Wisconsin, that the petition of Master-Halco, Inc. for the approval of a 
Special Use Amendment for the property particularly described in the preamble to this 
Resolution, be and the same is hereby approved, subject to the following conditions and 
restrictions: 

1. That this Special Use Amendment is approved only for the use of the subject 
property by Master-Halco, Inc., successors and assigns, for a fence warehouse 
and distribution use with light fabrication and outdoor storage, which shall be 
developed in substantial compliance with, and owned and operated and 
maintained by Master-Halco, Inc., pursuant to those plans City dated October 23, 
2023 and annexed hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit A. 

2. Master-Halco, Inc., successors and assigns, shall pay to the City of Franklin the 
amount of all development compliance, inspection and review fees incurred by 
the City of Franklin, including fees of consults to the City of Franklin, for the 
Master-Halco, Inc. Special Use Amendment, within 30 days of invoice for same.  
Any violation of this provision shall be a violation of the Unified Development 
Ordinance, and subject to §15-9.0502 thereof and §1-19 of the Municipal Code, 
the general penalties and remedies provisions, as amended from time to time. 

3. The approval granted hereunder is conditional upon Master-Halco, Inc. Special 
Use Amendment for the property located at 7407 S 27thd St.: (i) being in 
compliance with all applicable governmental laws, statutes, rules, codes, orders 
and ordinances; and (ii) obtaining all other governmental approvals, permits, 
licenses and the like, required for and applicable to the project to be developed 
and as presented for this approval. 

4. Outdoor storage shall be limited to the concrete and gravel area located to the 
west of the principal building and shall be kept in an orderly manner. 

5. No overnight parking of commercial vehicles shall be allowed outside of the 
storage yard located behind or to the west of the principal building. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that in the event Master-Halco, Inc., successors or 
assigns, or any owner of the subject property, does not comply with one or any of the 
conditions and restrictions of this Special Use Amendment Resolution, following a ten (10) 



MASTER-HALCO, INC. – SPECIAL USE AMENDMENT 

RESOLUTION NO. 2023-  

day notice to cure, and failure to comply within such time period, the Common Council, 
upon notice and hearing, may revoke the Special Use Amendment permission granted under 
this Resolution. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that any violation of any term, condition or 
restriction of this Resolution is hereby deemed to be, and therefore shall be, a violation of 
the Unified Development Ordinance, and pursuant to §15-9.0502 thereof and §1-19 of the 
Municipal Code, the penalty for such violation shall be a forfeiture of no more than 
$2,500.00, or such other maximum amount and together with such other costs and terms as 
may be specified therein from time to time. Each day that such violation continues shall be 
a separate violation. Failure of the City to enforce any such violation shall not be a waiver 
of that or any other violation. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this Resolution shall be construed to be such 
Special Use Amendment Permit as is contemplated by §15-9.0103 of the Unified 
Development Ordinance. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, pursuant to §15-9.0103G. of the Unified 
Development Ordinance, that the Special Use Amendment permission granted under this 
Resolution shall be null and void upon the expiration of one year from the date of adoption 
of this Resolution, unless the Special Use Amendment has been established by way of the 
issuance of an occupancy permit for such use. 

BE IT FINALLY RESOLVED, that the City Clerk be and is hereby directed to obtain 
the recording of a certified copy of this Resolution in the Office of the Register of Deeds for 
Milwaukee County, Wisconsin. 

Introduced at a regular meeting of the Common Council of the City of Franklin this 
19th day of December, 2023. 

Passed and adopted at a regular meeting of the Common Council of the City of 
Franklin this 19th day of December, 2023. 

APPROVED: 

John R. Nelson, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

Karen L. Kastenson, City Clerk 



MASTER-HALCO, INC. – SPECIAL USE AMENDMENT 

RESOLUTION NO. 2023-  

AYES  NOES  ABSENT  



MASTER-HALCO, INC. – SPECIAL USE AMENDMENT 

RESOLUTION NO. 2023-  

EXHIBIT A 

PLANS DATED OCTOBER 23, 2023 

ATTACHED HERETO 



STATE OF WISCONSIN        CITY OF FRANKLIN      MILWAUKEE COUNTY                     
PLAN COMMISSION Draft 11/25/2023

RESOLUTION NO. 2023-  

A RESOLUTION APPROVING A SITE PLAN AMENDMENT FOR 
THE DEVELOPMENT OF A MASTER-HALCO SALES BRANCH 

UPON PROPERTY LOCATED AT 7407 SOUTH 27TH STREET 
(BY MASTER-HALCO, INC., APPLICANT, PLATT 

CONSTRUCTION, INC., PROPERTY OWNER) 

WHEREAS, Master-Halco, Inc., having petitioned the City of Franklin for the approval 
of a Site Plan Amendment for the development of a Master-Halco Sales Branch upon Master-
Halco, Inc.’s acquisition of title of said property by conveyance from the Property Owner 
referenced above, upon property located at 7407 South 27th Street, such Site Plan and Special 
Use having been previously approved on February 4, 1992 by Resolution No. 92-3753, zoned 
B-4 South 27th Street Mixed Use Commercial District. The property which is the subject of 
the application bears Tax Key No. 761 9994 006. 

WHEREAS, the development proposes a new parking area and storm water 
management pond as well as modifications to landscaping and lighting onsite, and the Plan 
Commission having reviewed such proposal and having found same to be in compliance with 
the applicable terms and provisions of §15-3.0304 B-4 South 27th Street Mixed Use 
Commercial District of the Unified Development Ordinance and in furtherance of those 
express standards and purposes of a site plan review pursuant to Division 15-7.0100 of the 
Unified Development Ordinance. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Plan Commission of the City of 
Franklin, Wisconsin, that the Site Plan Amendment for Master-Halco, Inc. dated October 23, 
2023, as submitted by Master-Halco, Inc., as described above, be and the same is hereby 
approved, subject to the following conditions: 

1. Master-Halco, Inc., successors and assigns and any developer of the Master Halco 
project shall pay to the City of Franklin the amount of all development compliance, 
inspection and review fees incurred by the City of Franklin, including fees of consults 
to the City of Franklin, for the Master-Halco, Inc. project, within 30 days of invoice for 
same. Any violation of this provision shall be a violation of the Unified Development 
Ordinance, and subject to §15-9.0502 thereof and §1-19 of the Municipal Code, the 
general penalties and remedies provisions, as amended from time to time. 

2. The approval granted hereunder is conditional upon Master-Halco, Inc. and the Master-
Halco project for the property located at 7407 South 27th Street: (i) being in compliance 
with all applicable governmental laws, statutes, rules, codes, orders and ordinances; 
and (ii) obtaining all other governmental approvals, permits, licenses and the like, 
required for and applicable to the project to be developed and as presented for this 
approval. 



MASTER-HALCO - SITE PLAN AMENDMENT 

RESOLUTION NO. 2023-  
Page 2 

3. The Master-Halco, Inc. project shall be developed in substantial compliance with the 
plans dated October 23, 2023. 

4. Final grading, erosion control, and stormwater management plans shall be approved by 
the Engineering Department prior to any land disturbance activities. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, by the Plan Commission of the City of Franklin, 
Wisconsin, that the Master-Halco, Inc. development as depicted upon the plans dated October 
23, 2023, attached hereto as Exhibit A and incorporated herein, shall be developed and 
constructed within one year from the date of adoption of this Resolution, or this Resolution 
and all rights and approvals granted hereunder shall be null and void, without any further 
action by the City of Franklin; and the Site Plan Amendment for the property located at 7404 
South 27th Street, as previously approved, is amended accordingly.   

Introduced at a regular meeting of the Plan Commission of the City of 
Franklin this 9th day of November, 2023. 

Passed and adopted at a regular meeting of the Plan Commission of the City of Franklin 
this 7th day of December, 2023. 

APPROVED: 

John R. Nelson, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

Karen L. Kastenson, City Clerk 

AYES  NOES  ABSENT  



MASTER-HALCO - SITE PLAN AMENDMENT 

RESOLUTION NO. 2023-  
Page 3 

EXHIBIT A 

PLANS DATED OCTOBER 23, 2023 

ATTACHED HERETO 



Planning Department 
(414) 425-4024

7407 S. 27th Street
TKN: 761 9994 006

This map shows the approximate relative location of property
boundaries but was not prepared by a professional land surveyor.
This map is provided for informational purposes only
and may not be sufficient or appropriate for legal, engineering,
or surveying purposes.

B-4 

BP  

R-6 

R-6 B-4 

PRIVATE

27
TH

    
    

    
    

    
    

   S
T  

31
ST

    
    

    
    

    
    

   S
T  

 

STATESMAN WAY

N
2021 Aerial Photo

0 390 780195 Feet

Property

 



Planning Department 
(414) 425-4024

7407 S. 27th Street
TKN: 761 9994 006

This map shows the approximate relative location of property
boundaries but was not prepared by a professional land surveyor.
This map is provided for informational purposes only
and may not be sufficient or appropriate for legal, engineering,
or surveying purposes.

PRIVATE

27
TH

    
    

    
    

    
    

   S
T  

31
ST

    
    

    
    

    
    

   S
T  

 

STATESMAN WAY

MINNESOTA                      AVE  

N
2021 Aerial Photo

0 390 780195 Feet

Property

 



























  

 1 

 C I T Y  O F  F R A N K L I N   

REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION 
 

Meeting of December 7, 2023 
Unified Development Ordinance Text Amendment and Special Use Applications 

 
RECOMMENDATION:  City Development Staff recommends the Plan Commission forward the 
Unified Development Ordinance and Special Use application to the Common Council for decision 
based upon the recommended draft Ordinance and Resolution with conditions as attached.   
Project Name:  Glander Family Chiropractic  

Property Owner: ACG ACQUISITIONS #10 LLC 
 D/B/A ANDERSON COMMERCIAL GRP 

Applicant: Eleah Glander, Glander Family Chiropractic  

Property Address/Tax Key Number:  11217 West Forest Home Avenue/748 9961 001 

Aldermanic District: District 6 

Agent: Eleah Glander, Glander Family Chiropractic 

Zoning District:  M-1 Limited Industrial District 

Use of Surrounding Properties: M-1 zoned property to the north and south, Woodland 
Prairie Condominiums to the east and B-3 zoned property 
and single-family residential to the west 

Application Request: To allow SIC Code No. 8041 Offices and clinics of 
Chiropractors within the M-1 District as a Special Use 
and approval of a Special Use Permit for Glander Family 
Chiropractic. 

Staff Planner: Nick Fuchs, Planning Associate 
 

Project Description and Analysis 
The applicant has filed a Unified Ordinance Text Amendment and Special Use applications to allow 
for Glander Family Chiropractic to locate and operate within Unit 3 of 11217 West Forest Home 
Avenue.  
 
More specifically, the applicant is requesting to amend Table 15-3.0603 to add Standard Industrial 
Classification Title No. 8041 “Offices and Clinics of Chiropractors” as a Special Use in the M-1 
Limited Industrial District. Currently SIC Code No. 8041 is not allowed within the M-1 District.  
 
The applicant also concurrently filed a Special Use Application specifically for Glander Family 
Chiropractic. 
 
Glander Family Chiropractic is a chiropractic offering chiropractic services and massage therapy. The 
tenant space is approximately 2,000 square feet. Staff does not anticipate any parking issues with the 
existing shared parking lot consisting of about 90 parking spaces. Hours of operations vary as outlined 

Item C.3. & C.4. 



  

 2 

within the applicant’s project narrative, but are not anticipated to begin earlier than 9:00 a.m. or later 
than 7:00 p.m. 
 
There are no exterior building or site changes proposed at this time. 
 

Staff Recommendation 

City Development Staff recommends approval of the Unified Development Ordinance Text Amendment 
to amend Table 15-3.0603 to add Standard Industrial Classification Title No. 8041 “Offices and Clinics 
of Chiropractors” as a Special Use in the M-1 Limited Industrial District. 
 
The Plan Commission may recommend, and the Common Council may impose, conditions and 
limitations on a Special Use application related to use, design and operation (§15-3.0701.D).  
 
The Department of City Development staff recommends the Plan Commission forward the Special Use 
application to the Common Council for decision based on the recommended draft Resolution as attached. 
The resolution reflects recommended conditions of approval. 



STATE OF WISCONSIN              CITY OF FRANKLIN              MILWAUKEE COUNTY 
                           [Draft 10-24-23] 

ORDINANCE NO. 2023-____ 
 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE UNIFIED DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE TEXT 
AT TABLE 15-3.0603 STANDARD INDUSTRIAL CLASSIFICATION TITLE NO. 8041 

“OFFICES AND CLINICS OF CHIROPRACTORS” TO ALLOW SUCH USE AS A 
SPECIAL USE IN THE M-1 LIMITED INDUSTRIAL DISTRICT 

(ELEAH GLANDER, GLANDER FAMILY CHIROPRACTIC, 
APPLICANT) 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 WHEREAS, Table 15-3.0603 of the Unified Development Ordinance sets forth the 
permitted and special uses in the nonresidential zoning districts; and  
 
 WHEREAS, Eleah Glander having applied for a text amendment to Table 15-3.0603 
to amend the Unified Development Ordinance text at Table 15-3.0603 Standard Industrial 
Classification (SIC) Title No. 8041 “Offices and Clinics of Chiropractors”, to allow for such 
use as a Special Use in the M-1 Limited Industrial District. 
 

WHEREAS, the Plan Commission having reviewed the proposed amendment to 
change SIC Code No. 8041 “Offices and Clinics of Chiropractors” to a Special Use in the M-
1 Limited Industrial District, and having held a public hearing on the proposal on the 7th day 
of December, 2023 and thereafter having recommended approval of such amendment; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Common Council having accepted the recommendation of the Plan 

Commission and having determined that the proposed amendment is consistent with the 2025 
Comprehensive Master Plan of the City of Franklin, Wisconsin and will serve to further 
orderly growth and development and promote the health, safety and welfare of the 
Community. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, the Mayor and Common Council of the City of Franklin, Wisconsin, 
do ordain as follows: 
 

SECTION 1: Table 15-3.0603 of the Unified Development Ordinance of the 
Municipal Code of the City of Franklin, Wisconsin, only as it pertains 
to: Standard Industrial Classification Title No. 8041 “Offices and 
Clinics of Chiropractors”, is hereby amended as follows: insert “S” 
(Special Use) in the M-1 column  

 
SECTION 2:  The terms and provisions of this ordinance are severable.  Should any 

term or provision of this ordinance be found to be invalid by a court of 
competent jurisdiction, the remaining terms and provisions shall remain 
in full force and effect. 

 



ORDINANCE NO. 2023-____ 
Page 2 
 
 

SECTION 3: All ordinances and parts of ordinances in contravention to this 
ordinance are hereby repealed. 

 
SECTION 4: This ordinance shall take effect and be in force from and after its 

passage and publication. 
 
 Introduced at a regular meeting of the Common Council of the City of Franklin this 
19th day of December, 2023. 
 

Passed and adopted at a regular meeting of the Common Council of the City of 
Franklin this 19th day of December, 2023. 
  
       APPROVED: 
 
 
             
       John R. Nelson, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
       
Karen L. Kastenson, City Clerk 
 
AYES ______ NOES ______  ABSENT ______    



  Chapter 5: Land Use 

Map 5.7:  Future Land Use Map 2025 

 

Franklin Comprehensive Plan Final Draft September 2009  5-61 



S 



  

 1 

 C I T Y  O F  F R A N K L I N   

REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION 
 

Meeting of December 7, 2023 
Unified Development Ordinance Text Amendment and Special Use Applications 

 
RECOMMENDATION:  City Development Staff recommends the Plan Commission forward the 
Unified Development Ordinance and Special Use application to the Common Council for decision 
based upon the recommended draft Ordinance and Resolution with conditions as attached.   
Project Name:  Glander Family Chiropractic  

Property Owner: ACG ACQUISITIONS #10 LLC 
 D/B/A ANDERSON COMMERCIAL GRP 

Applicant: Eleah Glander, Glander Family Chiropractic  

Property Address/Tax Key Number:  11217 West Forest Home Avenue/748 9961 001 

Aldermanic District: District 6 

Agent: Eleah Glander, Glander Family Chiropractic 

Zoning District:  M-1 Limited Industrial District 

Use of Surrounding Properties: M-1 zoned property to the north and south, Woodland 
Prairie Condominiums to the east and B-3 zoned property 
and single-family residential to the west 

Application Request: To allow SIC Code No. 8041 Offices and clinics of 
Chiropractors within the M-1 District as a Special Use 
and approval of a Special Use Permit for Glander Family 
Chiropractic. 

Staff Planner: Nick Fuchs, Planning Associate 
 

Project Description and Analysis 
The applicant has filed a Unified Ordinance Text Amendment and Special Use applications to allow 
for Glander Family Chiropractic to locate and operate within Unit 3 of 11217 West Forest Home 
Avenue.  
 
More specifically, the applicant is requesting to amend Table 15-3.0603 to add Standard Industrial 
Classification Title No. 8041 “Offices and Clinics of Chiropractors” as a Special Use in the M-1 
Limited Industrial District. Currently SIC Code No. 8041 is not allowed within the M-1 District.  
 
The applicant also concurrently filed a Special Use Application specifically for Glander Family 
Chiropractic. 
 
Glander Family Chiropractic is a chiropractic offering chiropractic services and massage therapy. The 
tenant space is approximately 2,000 square feet. Staff does not anticipate any parking issues with the 
existing shared parking lot consisting of about 90 parking spaces. Hours of operations vary as outlined 

Item C.3. & C.4. 



  

 2 

within the applicant’s project narrative, but are not anticipated to begin earlier than 9:00 a.m. or later 
than 7:00 p.m. 
 
There are no exterior building or site changes proposed at this time. 
 

Staff Recommendation 

City Development Staff recommends approval of the Unified Development Ordinance Text Amendment 
to amend Table 15-3.0603 to add Standard Industrial Classification Title No. 8041 “Offices and Clinics 
of Chiropractors” as a Special Use in the M-1 Limited Industrial District. 
 
The Plan Commission may recommend, and the Common Council may impose, conditions and 
limitations on a Special Use application related to use, design and operation (§15-3.0701.D).  
 
The Department of City Development staff recommends the Plan Commission forward the Special Use 
application to the Common Council for decision based on the recommended draft Resolution as attached. 
The resolution reflects recommended conditions of approval. 



STATE OF WISCONSIN             CITY OF FRANKLIN               MILWAUKEE COUNTY 
     [Draft 11-21-23]  

RESOLUTION NO. 2023-_____ 
 

A RESOLUTION IMPOSING CONDITIONS AND RESTRICTIONS FOR  
THE APPROVAL OF A SPECIAL USE FOR A CHIROPRACTIC OFFICE AND 

SERVICES BUSINESS USE UPON PROPERTY LOCATED AT 11217 WEST FOREST 
HOME AVENUE (BY ELEAH GLANDER, GLANDER FAMILY CHIROPRACTIC, 
APPLICANT, ACG ACQUISITIONS #10 LLC (D/B/A ANDERSON COMMERCIAL 

GRP, PROPERTY OWNER) 
              
 

WHEREAS, Eleah Glander, Glander Family Chiropractic having petitioned the City 
of Franklin for the approval of a Special Use for a chiropractic office business use upon 
property located at 11217 West Forest Home Avenue, zoned M-1 Limited Industrial District.  
The property which is the subject of the application bears Tax Key No. 748 9961 001 and is 
more particularly described as follows: 
 

Parcel A: 
Parcel 1 of Certified Survey Map No. 4982, recorded on July 21, 1987, on Reel 2121, 
Images 1575 to 1577 inclusive, as Document No. 6086366, being a part of the 
Northwest 1/4 and the Northeast 1/4 of the Southeast 1/4 of Section 6, Town 5 North, 
Range 21 East, in the City of Franklin, County of Milwaukee, State of Wisconsin  
 
Parcel B: 
Parcel 2 of Certified Survey Map No. 4076, recorded on August 10, 1981, on Reel 
1394, Images 1488 to 1490 inclusive, as Document No. 5493488, being a part of the 
Southeast 1/4 of Section 6, Town 5 North, Range 21 East, in the City of Franklin, 
County of Milwaukee, State of Wisconsin. 
 

 WHEREAS, such petition having been duly referred to the Plan Commission of the 
City of Franklin for a public hearing, pursuant to the requirements of §15-9.0103D. of the 
Unified Development Ordinance, and a public hearing having been held before the Plan 
Commission on the 7th day of December, 2023, and the Plan Commission thereafter having 
determined to recommend that the proposed Special Use be approved, subject to certain 
conditions, and the Plan Commission further finding that the proposed Special Use upon 
such conditions, pursuant to §15-3.0701 of the Unified Development Ordinance, will be in 
harmony with the purposes of the Unified Development Ordinance and the Comprehensive 
Master Plan; that they will not have an undue adverse impact upon adjoining property; that 
they will not interfere with the development of neighboring property; that they will be served 
adequately by essential public facilities and services; that they will not cause undue traffic 
congestion; and that they will not result in damage to property of significant importance to 
nature, history or the like; and 
 



ELEAH GLANDER, GLANDER FAMILY CHIROPRACTIC – SPECIAL USE 
RESOLUTION NO. 2023-_____ 
Page 2 
 

WHEREAS, the Common Council having received such Plan Commission 
recommendation and also having found that the proposed Special Use, subject to conditions, 
meet the standards set forth under §15-3.0701 of the Unified Development Ordinance. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Mayor and Common Council of 
the City of Franklin, Wisconsin, that the petition of Eleah Glander, Glander Family 
Chiropractic, for the approval of a Special Use for the property particularly described in the 
preamble to this Resolution, be and the same is hereby approved, subject to the following 
conditions and restrictions: 
 

1. That this Special Use is approved only for the use of the subject property by Eleah 
Glander, Glander Family Chiropractic, successors and assigns, for a chiropractic 
office business use, which shall be developed in substantial compliance with, and 
operated and maintained by Eleah Glander, Glander Family Chiropractic, pursuant 
to the project narrative dated October 31, 2023 and associated plan submittal 
annexed hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit A. 

2. Eleah Glander, Glander Family Chiropractic, successors and assigns, shall pay to 
the City of Franklin the amount of all development compliance, inspection and 
review fees incurred by the City of Franklin, including fees of consults to the City 
of Franklin, for the Eleah Glander, Glander Family Chiropractic Special Use, 
within 30 days of invoice for same.  Any violation of this provision shall be a 
violation of the Unified Development Ordinance, and subject to §15-9.0502 
thereof and §1-19 of the Municipal Code, the general penalties and remedies 
provisions, as amended from time to time. 

3. The approval granted hereunder is conditional upon the Eleah Glander, Glander 
Family Chiropractic Special Use for the property located at 11217 West Forest 
Home Avenue:  (i) being in compliance with all applicable governmental laws, 
statutes, rules, codes, orders and ordinances; and (ii) obtaining all other 
governmental approvals, permits, licenses and the like, required for and applicable 
to the project to be developed and as presented for this approval. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that in the event Eleah Glander, Glander Family 
Chiropractic, successors or assigns, or any owner of the subject property, does not comply 
with one or any of the conditions and restrictions of this Special Use Resolution, following a 
ten (10) day notice to cure, and failure to comply within such time period, the Common 
Council, upon notice and hearing, may revoke the Special Use permission granted under this 
Resolution. 

 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that any violation of any term, condition or 
restriction of this Resolution is hereby deemed to be, and therefore shall be, a violation of the 
Unified Development Ordinance, and pursuant to §15-9.0502 thereof and §1-19 of the 
Municipal Code, the penalty for such violation shall be a forfeiture of no more than 



ELEAH GLANDER, GLANDER FAMILY CHIROPRACTIC – SPECIAL USE 
RESOLUTION NO. 2023-_____ 
Page 3 
 
$2,500.00, or such other maximum amount and together with such other costs and terms as 
may be specified therein from time to time.  Each day that such violation continues shall be a 
separate violation.  Failure of the City to enforce any such violation shall not be a waiver of 
that or any other violation. 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this Resolution shall be construed to be such 
Special Use Permit as is contemplated by §15-9.0103 of the Unified Development 
Ordinance. 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, pursuant to §15-9.0103G. of the Unified 
Development Ordinance, that the Special Use permission granted under this Resolution shall 
be null and void upon the expiration of one year from the date of adoption of this Resolution, 
unless the Special Use has been established by way of the issuance of an occupancy permit 
for such use. 
 

BE IT FINALLY RESOLVED, that the City Clerk be and is hereby directed to obtain 
the recording of a certified copy of this Resolution in the Office of the Register of Deeds for 
Milwaukee County, Wisconsin. 
  
 Introduced at a regular meeting of the Common Council of the City of Franklin this 
19th day of December, 2023. 
 

Passed and adopted at a regular meeting of the Common Council of the City of 
Franklin this 19th day of December, 2023. 
 
       APPROVED: 
 
 
       _________________________________  
       John R. Nelson, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
___________________________________       
Karen L. Kastenson, City Clerk 
 
AYES ______ NOES ______ ABSENT ______ 
 
 
 
 
 



ELEAH GLANDER, GLANDER FAMILY CHIROPRACTIC – SPECIAL USE 
RESOLUTION NO. 2023-_____ 
Page 4 
 

 
EXHIBIT A 

 
ATTACHED HERETO 

 



Planning Department 
(414) 425-4024

11217 W. Forest Home Ave.
TKN: 748 9961 001

This map shows the approximate relative location of property
boundaries but was not prepared by a professional land surveyor.
This map is provided for informational purposes only
and may not be sufficient or appropriate for legal, engineering,
or surveying purposes.

M-1 

R-3 

R-3 

B-2 

M-1 

R-8 

R-7 

R-8 
B-2 

C-1 

R-3 

R-4 

R-5 

FO
RE

ST
HO

ME
AV

E

SE
RV

ICE
  D

R

NO
RT

H C
AP

E  
    

    
    

    
   R

D  

11
2T

H 
    

    
    

    
    

    
 ST

   

11
1T

H 
    

    
    

    
    

    
 ST

   

N
2021 Aerial Photo

0 310 620155 Feet

Property

 



Planning Department 
(414) 425-4024

11217 W. Forest Home Ave.
TKN: 748 9961 001

This map shows the approximate relative location of property
boundaries but was not prepared by a professional land surveyor.
This map is provided for informational purposes only
and may not be sufficient or appropriate for legal, engineering,
or surveying purposes.

FO
RE

ST
HO

ME
AV

E

SE
RV

ICE
  D

R

NO
RT

H C
AP

E  
    

    
    

    
   R

D  

11
2T

H 
    

    
    

    
    

    
 ST

   

11
1T

H 
    

    
    

    
    

    
 ST

   

N
2021 Aerial Photo

0 310 620155 Feet

Property

 



October 31, 2023  

City of Franklin  

9229 W. Loomis Road  

Franklin, WI 53132  

 

To Whom It May Concern,  

Glander Family Chiropractic is a chiropractic office that is run by Dr. Eleah Glander. Dr. Glander 
has been practicing for almost 12 years and has been practicing at her current location in Hales 
Corners for 8 years.  

Chiropractic is a gentle, non-invasive healthcare technique performed by a licensed Doctor of 
Chiropractic; the technique emphasizes the body’s ability to heal itself. This is done through 
manual manipulation of joints in the spinal column to remove spinal misalignments, which in 
turn removes nerve interference allowing the body to function to the best of its ability.  

Glander Family Chiropractic also utilizes electrical stimulation therapy, therapeutic ultrasound, 
neuromuscular re-education and intersegmental traction to address adhesions in the soft tissue 
that may be inhibiting spinal recovery.  

Glander Family Chiropractic currently employs a doctor of chiropractic, an office 
manager/chiropractic technician and a second chiropractic technician that specializes in 
neuromuscular re-education.  

Glander Family Chiropractic is looking to move the office to a new location at 11217 W. Forest 
Home Ave, Suite 3, Franklin WI. This location is currently M-1. Glander Family Chiropractic is 
looking to amend the UDO to add SIC 8041, “Offices and Clinics of Chiropractors” to be a 
special use in the M-1 district.   

The 11217 W Forest Home Ave, Suite 3 location is 2000 square feet. There is an attached 
parking lot that has 90 parking spaces. Although there will not be dedicated parking spaces for 
Glander Family Chiropractic, there should be ample parking for patients of the clinic, as no more 
than 10 spaces, including for staff parking, are needed at any given time during the day. 
Additionally, the hours of operation for the clinic are Monday 2pm-6-7pm, Tuesday 9am-12pm 
and 2pm-6pm, Wednesdays 9:30am-12 and 2pm-4:30pm, Thursdays 9am-12pm and 2pm-7pm 
and Friday 9am-12pm. 

 

Respectfully,  

Dr. Eleah Glander DC  

Glander Family Chiropractic  



Page | 1  
 

DIVISION 15-3.0700 SPECIAL USE STANDARDS AND 
REGULATIONS 
 
SECTION 15-3.0701 GENERAL STANDARDS FOR SPECIAL USES 
 
A. General Standards. No special use permit shall be recommended or granted pursuant to 

this Ordinance unless the applicant shall establish the following: 
 
1. Ordinance and Comprehensive Master Plan Purposes and Intent. The proposed use 

and development will be in harmony with the general and specific purposes for which this 
Ordinance was enacted and for which the regulations of the zoning district in question were 
established and with the general purpose and intent of the City of Franklin Comprehensive 
Master Plan or element thereof. 
 
Response: correct. The proposed chiropractic office would join a number of businesses 

located along that stretch of Forest Home. 
 
 

2. No Undue Adverse Impact. The proposed use and development will not have a substantial 
or undue adverse or detrimental effect upon or endanger adjacent property, the character 
of the area, or the public health, safety, morals, comfort, and general welfare and not 
substantially diminish and impair property values within the community or neighborhood. 
 
Response: correct. Glander Family Chiropractic’s operating hours are Monday 2pm-6-
7pm, Tuesday 9am-12pm and 2pm-6pm, Wednesdays 9:30am-12 and 2pm-4:30pm, 
Thursdays 9am-12pm and 2pm-7pm and Friday 9am-12pm. No patients will be at the 
location outside of those operating hours.  

 
 

3. No Interference with Surrounding Development. The proposed use and development 
will be constructed, arranged, and operated so as not to dominate the immediate vicinity or 
to interfere with the use and development of neighboring property in accordance with the 
applicable zoning district regulations. 
 
Response: correct. There is already a freestanding building at the proposed chiropractic 

office location, and minimal changes are required to the outside of the building. 
The office would simply be joining a stretch of the road along which a variety of 
businesses are already located.  

 
 

4. Adequate Public Facilities.  The  proposed  use  and  development  will  be  served 
adequately by essential public facilities and services such as streets, public utilities 
including public water supply system and sanitary sewer, police and fire protection, refuse 
disposal, public parks, libraries, schools, and other public facilities and utilities or the 
applicant will provide adequately for such facilities. 
 
Response: correct. Patients will be able to take a main street to the office, and there is a 



Page | 2  
 

parking lot off the road for patients to park in. Additionally, the parking lot has 
easy access in and out of the road. The office will not put undue strain on 
resources along that stretch of Forest Home Ave.  

 
 

5. No Traffic Congestion. The proposed use and development will not cause undue traffic 
congestion nor draw significant amounts of traffic through residential streets. Adequate 
measures will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed as to minimize traffic 
congestion in the public streets. 
 
Response: correct. The office is not located on a residential street, and patients will be 

able to drive to the location without taking any residential streets. Additionally, 
there is ample off street parking available onsite at the proposed location.  

 
 

6. No Destruction of Significant Features. The proposed use and development will not 
result in the destruction, loss, or damage of any natural, scenic, or historic feature of 
significant importance. 
 
Response: correct. No construction outside of the building is required, so the 

environmental impact of the proposed location is minimal.  
 
 

7. Compliance with Standards. The special use shall, in all other respects, conform to the 
applicable regulations of the district in which it is located, except as such regulations may, 
in each instance, be modified by the Common Council pursuant to the recommendations 
of the Plan Commission. The proposed use and development shall comply with all 
additional standards imposed on it by the particular provision of this Division and 
Ordinance authorizing such use. 
 
Response: correct. All regulations for the special use will be met.  
 
 

B. Special Standards for Specified Special Uses. When the zoning district regulations 
authorize a special use in a particular zoning district and that special use is indicated as 
having special standards, as set forth in Section 15-3.0702 and 15-3.0703 of this Division, 
a Special Use Permit for such use in such zoning district shall not be recommended or 
granted unless the applicant shall establish compliance with all such special standards. 
 
Response: correct. All compliance with special standards will be met.  
 
 

C. Considerations. In determining whether the applicant's evidence establishes that the 
foregoing standards have been met, the Plan Commission and the Common Council shall 
consider the following: 

 
1. Public Benefit. Whether and to what extent the proposed use and development at the 

particular location requested is necessary or desirable to provide a service or a facility that 
is in the interest of the public convenience or that will contribute to the general welfare of 



Page | 3  
 

the neighborhood or community. 
 
Response: The proposed location is for a chiropractic office. The doctor currently sees 

a number of patients in the Franklin area. Practicing at this location will allow 
the wellness and healthcare needs of the community to continue to be met.  

 
 

2. Alternative Locations. Whether and to what extent such public goals can be met by the 
location of the proposed use and development at some other site or in some other area that 
may be more appropriate than the proposed site. 
 
Response: After an exhaustive search, no better location has been found that would be 

a more appropriate space for a chiropractic office. Any other properties for sale 
in the area require extensive renovations, or are extremely close to existing 
chiropractic offices. The proposed site does not have another chiropractor 
nearby. Operating in the proposed space would give residents and workers in the 
area a closer location to go for their health and wellness needs.  

 
3. Mitigation of Adverse Impacts. Whether and to what extent all steps possible have been 

taken to minimize any adverse effects of the proposed use and development on the 
immediate vicinity through building design, site design, landscaping, and screening. 
 
Response: The exterior building requires no renovations before the chiropractic office 

would be able to start operations. There is already a parking lot sufficiently large 
enough to accommodate parking for employees and patients. The space is also 
already wheelchair accessible. No changes to the current site design or 
landscaping are required.  

 
 

4. Establishment of Precedent of Incompatible Uses in the Surrounding Area. Whether 
the use will establish a precedent of, or encourage, more intensive or incompatible uses in 
the surrounding area. 
 
Response: There are already a number of businesses operating along the requested 

location. Allowing a chiropractic office to operate in the proposed space will not 
place undue stress or traffic in the neighborhood due to the number of already 
functioning businesses surrounding the requested location for the chiropractic 
office. 



September 15, 2023 

 

City of Franklin 

9229 W. Loomis Road 

Franklin, WI 53132 

 

 

To Whom It May Concern, 

 

Special Use Permit Legal Description of the property 

Parcel A: 
Parcel 1 of Certified Survey Map No. 4982, recorded on July 21, 1987, on Reel 2121, Images 
1575 to 1577 inclusive, as Document No. 6086366, being a part of the Northwest 1/4 and the 
Northeast 1/4 of the Southeast 1/4 of Section 6, Town 5 North, Range 21 East, in the City of 
Franklin, County of Milwaukee, State of Wisconsin 

Parcel B: 
Parcel 2 of Certified Survey Map No. 4076, recorded on August 10, 1981, on Reel 1394, Images 
1488 to 1490 inclusive, as Document No. 5493488, being a part of the Southeast 1/4 of Section 
6, Town 5 North, Range 21 East, in the City of Franklin, County of Milwaukee, State of 

Wisconsin. 

 For informational purposes only: 
Property Address: 11217 West Forest Home Avenue (Parcel A) and Vacant Land situated on 
South 112th Street (Parcel B), Franklin, WI 53132 
Tax Key Number: 748-9961-001 (Parcel A) and 748-9959-003 (Parcel B) 

 

 

Respectfully,  

 

 

Dr. Eleah Glander DC 

Glander Family Chiropractic 

10920 W Forest Home Ave 

Hales Corners, WI 

 







 
 

1 

 CITY OF FRANKLIN  
REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION 

 

Meeting of December 7, 2023 
 

Special Use Amendment 
 

RECOMMENDATION:  City Development Staff recommends approval of this Special Use amendment 
subject to the conditions set forth in the attached resolution.  

Project name: Boomtown, LLC – Special Use Amendment 
Property Owner: Boomtown, LLC 
Applicant: S.R. Mills. Boomtown, LLC 
Property Address/TKN: 12000 W. Loomis Road / 891 9011 000 
Aldermanic District: District 6 
Zoning District: R-8 Multiple-Family Residence District 
Staff Planner: Régulo Martínez-Montilva, AICP, CNUa, Principal Planner 
 

Please note: 
• Recommendations are underlined, in italics and are included in the draft resolution. 
• Suggestions are only underlined and are not included in the draft resolution. 

 
Project Description/Analysis  
The applicant received a special use permit for a condominium development consisting of 26 dwelling 
units arranged in 13 duplex structures (Resolution 2022-7873). This request is to amend said special use 
permit to allow for a condominium development with 13 single-family homes.  
 
This special use amendment doesn’t require an amendment to the approved site plan as the applicant is 
only requesting to build single-family homes within approved building footprints. It’s worth noting that 
in the R-8 zoning district, single-family and two-family dwellings are subject to the same development 
standards, such as setbacks, lot coverage, building height, etc.  
 
Background 
This development was presented before the Common Council on April 5, 2021, as a Concept Review. 
Then, this 15.6-acre site was created by Certified Survey Map No. 9338 recorded on August 6; and the 
C-1 Conservancy District zoning was removed from such site by rezoning Ordinance No. 2021-2480 on 
September 21. This development received a variance by the Board of Zoning and Building Appeals to 
allow for a reduced 20-foot front setback on January 19, 2022; and a Natural Resource Special Exception 
(NRSE) was granted on February 1 to allow for after-the-fact impacts to wetland buffers. 
 
The special use permit for 13 duplex structures (26 dwelling units) was granted on June 21, 2022, 
Resolution No. 2022-7873 and the Site Plan on June 9, 2022, Plan Commission Resolution 2022-016. 
 
A condominium plat for 26 residential units was approved on September 6, 2022, Resolution No. 2022-
7895. In November 2023, a condominium plat addendum was recorded depicting 13 single-family 
dwellings as presented in this special use permit request. The cul-de-sac street “Sophia Court” was 
dedicated to the city for right-of-way purposes by a warranty deed.  

Item C.5. 



 
 

2 

 
General standards for Special Uses (§15-3.0701) 
Summary of 
Standard 

Staff’s Finding 

1. Harmony with 
UDO and 
Comprehensive 
Plan purposes and 
intent.  

The northern portion of this site is designated as residential-
multifamily in the future land use map of the City of Franklin 2025 
Comprehensive Master Plan. The southern portion is designated as 
commercial but it is constrained by an access restriction to Loomis 
Road.  
 
It is worth noting that per Wisconsin Statutes §66.1001(2m)(b) “A 
conditional use permit that may be issued by a political subdivision 
does not need to be consistent with the political subdivision's 
comprehensive plan”. 
 

2. No Undue Adverse 
Impact. 

City Development staff does not anticipate any “undue adverse 
impact” to adjacent properties because conservation and landscape 
were approved. The conservation easement area is located to the 
west and east of the proposed development, as well as a landscape 
bufferyard with a berm to the south along Loomis Road. 
 

3. No Interference 
with Surrounding 
Development. 

The proposed dwellings are designed to meet the maximum 
permitted height for single-family and two-family homes in the R-8 
zoning district. This standard is not impacted by this amendment as 
this site is previously approved for two-family dwellings. 
 

4. Adequate Public 
Facilities. 

The proposed development will be served by public water supply 
and sanitary sewer service. It is noted that access to public water and 
sewer is a requirement for residential development in the R-8 zoning 
district per UDO Section 15-3.0209.A  “District Intent”.  
 

5. No Traffic 
Congestion. 

Since this amendment is to reduce the quantity of dwellings, staff is 
not requesting a Traffic Impact Analysis. 
  

6. No Destruction of 
Significant 
Features. 

The western portion is designated as Areas of Natural Resource 
Features in the comprehensive plan, the wetland areas located on this 
site are protected by a conservation easement required as condition 
of approval of previous special use and site plan. This request is not 
amending the previously approved site plan, no further impact to 
natural resources is being proposed. 
 
A Natural Resource Special Exception (NRSE) was granted with 
conditions on February 1, 2022, to allow for after-the-fact impacts to 
wetland buffers. This special use amendment is not altering the 
conditions of approval of this NRSE. 

7. Compliance with 
Standards. 

The previously approved special use complied with the requirements 
of the R-8 Multiple-Family Residence District for single-family and 
two-family residential use, including: building setbacks, building 



 
 

3 

height, required parking and landscaping. This amendment is not 
impacting compliance with these standards. 
 
The Board of Zoning and Building Appeals granted a variance on 
January 19, 2022, for a reduced front setback of 20 feet in this 
development, while the minimum front setback in the R-8 district is 
25 feet. 
 

 
Fire Department comments 
1. Development must include satisfactory water supply infrastructure for firefighting operations.  
2. Road constructed to accepted standards for fire department access. 
3. Area not well served by existing fire station locations and staffing. Response times for Effective 

Response Force for fire and EMS calls-for-service, and emergency incident types will likely exceed 
accepted industry standards. 

 
Engineering Department comments 
No comment. 
 
Staff Recommendation: 
City Development Staff recommends approval of this Special Use application subject to the conditions 
set forth in the attached resolution.  
 
 



Planning Department 
(414) 425-4024

12000 W. Loomis Road
TKN: 891 9011 000

This map shows the approximate relative location of property
boundaries but was not prepared by a professional land surveyor.
This map is provided for informational purposes only
and may not be sufficient or appropriate for legal, engineering,
or surveying purposes.

R-8 

R-2 
M-1 

R-3 PDD 

R-8 
C-1 

C-1 

LOOMIS
RD

RYAN                           RD   

LOOMIS CT

SO
PH

IA 
CT

M
ONARCH DR

WINDIN

G WAY

N
2021 Aerial Photo

0 475 950237.5 Feet

Property

 



Planning Department 
(414) 425-4024

12000 W. Loomis Road
TKN: 891 9011 000

This map shows the approximate relative location of property
boundaries but was not prepared by a professional land surveyor.
This map is provided for informational purposes only
and may not be sufficient or appropriate for legal, engineering,
or surveying purposes.

LOOMIS
RD

RYAN                           RD   

LOOMIS CT

SO
PH

IA 
CT

M
ONARCH DR

PARKVIEW LN

WINDIN

G WAY

N
2021 Aerial Photo

0 475 950237.5 Feet

Property

 



STATE OF WISCONSIN             CITY OF FRANKLIN               MILWAUKEE COUNTY 
                [Draft 11-20-23] 

RESOLUTION NO. 2023-_____ 
 

A RESOLUTION TO AMEND RESOLUTION NO. 7873  IMPOSING CONDITIONS 
AND RESTRICTIONS FOR THE APPROVAL OF A SPECIAL USE FOR A 

CONDOMINIUM COMPLEX DEVELOPMENT USE UPON PROPERTY LOCATED AT  
12000 WEST LOOMIS ROAD 

(STEPHEN R. MILLS, PRESIDENT OF BEAR DEVELOPMENT, LLC,  
APPLICANT, BOOMTOWN, LLC, PROPERTY OWNER) 

              
 
 WHEREAS, Stephen R. Mills, President of Bear Development, LLC having 
petitioned the City of Franklin for the approval of an amendment to Resolution No. 7873, to 
allow for the development of a condominium complex (“Woodfield Trail”), consisting of 26 
dwelling units arranged in 13 side-by-side duplex structures, property located at 12000 West 
Loomis Road, bearing Tax Key No. 891-9011-000, more particularly described as follows:  

 
Condominium Plat of Woodfield Trail, a Condominium. Being a part of the 
Southwest ¼ of the Northwest ¼ of the Northwest ¼ of Section 30, Township 
5 North, Range 21 East, City of Franklin, Milwaukee County, Wisconsin.; and 
 
WHEREAS, such proposed amendment being from 26 dwelling units arranged in 13 

side-by-side duplex structures to 13 single-family detached dwelling units; and  
 
WHEREAS, such petition having been duly referred to the Plan Commission of the 

City of Franklin for a public hearing, pursuant to the requirements of §15-9.0103D. of the 
Unified Development Ordinance, and a public hearing having been held before the Plan 
Commission on the 7th day of December, 2023, and the Plan Commission thereafter having 
determined to recommend that the proposed Special Use be approved, subject to certain 
conditions, and the Plan Commission further finding that the proposed Special Use upon 
such conditions, pursuant to §15-3.0701 of the Unified Development Ordinance, will be in 
harmony with the purposes of the Unified Development Ordinance and the Comprehensive 
Master Plan; that it will not have an undue adverse impact upon adjoining property; that it 
will not interfere with the development of neighboring property; that it will be served 
adequately by essential public facilities and services; that it will not cause undue traffic 
congestion; and that it will not result in damage to property of significant importance to 
nature, history or the like; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Common Council having received such Plan Commission 
recommendation and also having found that the proposed Special Use, subject to conditions, 
meets the standards set forth under §15-3.0701 of the Unified Development Ordinance. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Mayor and Common Council of 
the City of Franklin, Wisconsin, that the petition of Stephen R. Mills, President of Bear 



WOODFIELD TRAIL CONDOMINIUMS  – SPECIAL USE AMENDMENT 
RESOLUTION NO. 2023-_____ 
Page 2 
 
Development, LLC, for the approval of a Special Use for the property particularly described 
in the preamble to this Resolution, be and the same is hereby approved, subject to the 
following conditions and restrictions: 
 

1. That this Special Use is approved only for the use of the subject property by Stephen 
R. Mills, President of Bear Development, LLC, successors and assigns, as a 
condominium complex development use, which shall be developed in substantial 
compliance with, and operated and maintained by Stephen R. Mills, President of Bear 
Development, LLC, pursuant to those plans dated March 8, 2023 and annexed hereto 
and incorporated herein as Exhibit A. 

2. Stephen R. Mills, President of Bear Development, LLC, successors and assigns, shall 
pay to the City of Franklin the amount of all development compliance, inspection and 
review fees incurred by the City of Franklin, including fees of consults to the City of 
Franklin, for the Stephen R. Mills, President of Bear Development, LLC 
condominium complex development, within 30 days of invoice for same.  Any 
violation of this provision shall be a violation of the Unified Development Ordinance, 
and subject to §15-9.0502 thereof and §1-19 of the Municipal Code, the general 
penalties and remedies provisions, as amended from time to time. 

3. The approval granted hereunder is conditional upon Stephen R. Mills, President of 
Bear Development, LLC, and the condominium complex development use, for the 
property located at 12000 West Loomis Road: (i) being in compliance with all 
applicable governmental laws, statutes, rules, codes, orders and ordinances; and (ii) 
obtaining all other governmental approvals, permits, licenses and the like, required for 
and applicable to the project to be developed and as presented for this approval. 

4. The pedestrian path on the south side of Ryan Road, between the future Woodfield 
Court and the east boundary of this development, should be included in the 
development agreement.  

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that in the event Stephen R. Mills, President of Bear 
Development, LLC, successors or assigns, or any owner of the subject property, does not 
comply with one or any of the conditions and restrictions of this Special Use Resolution, 
following a ten (10) day notice to cure, and failure to comply within such time period, the 
Common Council, upon notice and hearing, may revoke the Special Use permission granted 
under this Resolution. 

 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that any violation of any term, condition or 
restriction of this Resolution is hereby deemed to be, and therefore shall be, a violation of the 
Unified Development Ordinance, and pursuant to §15-9.0502 thereof and §1-19 of the 
Municipal Code, the penalty for such violation shall be a forfeiture of no more than 
$2,500.00, or such other maximum amount and together with such other costs and terms as 
may be specified therein from time to time.  Each day that such violation continues shall be a 



WOODFIELD TRAIL CONDOMINIUMS  – SPECIAL USE AMENDMENT 
RESOLUTION NO. 2023-_____ 
Page 3 
 
separate violation.  Failure of the City to enforce any such violation shall not be a waiver of 
that or any other violation. 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this Resolution shall be construed to be such 
Special Use Permit as is contemplated by §15-9.0103 of the Unified Development 
Ordinance. 
  
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, pursuant to §15-9.0103G. of the Unified 
Development Ordinance, that the Special Use permission granted under this Resolution shall 
be null and void upon the expiration of one year from the date of adoption of this Resolution, 
unless the Special Use has been established by way of the issuance of an occupancy permit 
for such use. 
 

BE IT FINALLY RESOLVED, that the City Clerk be and is hereby directed to obtain 
the recording of a certified copy of this Resolution in the Office of the Register of Deeds for 
Milwaukee County, Wisconsin. 
  
 Introduced at a regular meeting of the Common Council of the City of Franklin this 
_______ day of ____________________, 2023. 
 
 Passed and adopted at a regular meeting of the Common Council of the City of 
Franklin this _______ day of ____________________, 2023. 
 
       APPROVED: 
 
 
       _________________________________  
       John R. Nelson, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
___________________________________       
Karen L. Kastenson, City Clerk 
 
AYES ______ NOES ______ ABSENT ______ 



W

M
ONARCH DRIVE

45' EXCEPTION PARCEL 1

D
EED

ED
 N

O
R

TH
 1/8

SEC
TIO

N
 C

O
R

N
ER

P.O
.B. PAR

C
EL 1

SIG
N

EXC
EPTIO

N
D

O
C

U
M

EN
T

N
O

. 7391120

ED
G

E O
F W

ATER
05/04/2021
EL.=799.3

PO
N

D

W
EST LO

O
M

IS R
O

AD

STATE TR
U

N
K H

IG
H

W
AY "36"

EXCEPTION DOCUMENT NO. 7391120

STATE TR
U

N
K H

IG
H

W
AY "45"

N
O

 AC
C

ESS PER
 D

O
C

. 7391120 & 6515731

29.4'

29.5'

35'
W

ISC
O

N
SIN

ELEC
TR

IC
 PO

W
ER

C
O

M
PAN

Y EASEM
EN

T
PER

 D
O

C
. 3236448

70'
C

R
O

SS AR
M

EASEM
EN

T
D

O
C

. 3236448

100' TR
EE

C
LEAR

IN
G

EASEM
EN

T
D

O
C

. 3236448

15'

15' W
EST SH

O
R

E
PIPE LIN

E EASEM
EN

T
PER

 D
O

C
. 3875551

AU
TH

O
R

IZED
 AC

C
ESS FO

R
 1 PR

IVATE D
R

IVEW
AY PER

 D
O

C
. 6515742

10' X 32' SAN
ITAR

Y SEW
ER

C
O

N
STR

U
C

TIO
N

 AC
C

ESS AN
D

M
AIN

TEN
AN

C
E EASEM

EN
T PER

D
O

C
. 10970000

P.O
.B. 1 SU

R
VEY

W
EST R

YAN
 R

O
AD

22.4'

24.75' EXC
EPTIO

N
 PAR

C
EL 1

W
ETLAN

D

MONARCH DRIVE

1

23

4

56

12

10

70' X 75'

80' X 75'

70' X 60'

80' X 60'

80' X 60'

80' X 75'

80' X 60'

70' X 60'

7
70' X 75'

8
70' X 75'

970' X 75'

11
70' X 60'

13
70' X 60'

SOPHIA COURT

100+00
101+00 102+00

103+00
104+00

105+00 106+00

107+00

108+00 108+55

PO
N

D
 3

H
W

L:803.93
N

W
L:801.00

BIO
-R

ETEN
TIO

N
PO

N
D

 2
H

W
L: 802.36

PO
N

D
 1

H
W

L:
801.95

N
W

L:800.00

30' 'N
O

 TO
U

C
H

'
W

ETLAN
D

 BU
FFER

50' W
ETLAN

D
 SETBAC

K

30' 'N
O

 TO
U

C
H

'
W

ETLAN
D

 BU
FFER

50' W
ETLAN

D
SETBAC

K

1" = 80'

© COPYRIGHT 2018

P
IN

N
A

C
L

E
 E

N
G

IN
E

E
R

IN
G

 G
R

O
U

P
    

P
IN

N
A

C
L

E
 E

N
G

IN
E

E
R

IN
G

 G
R

O
U

P
    

www.pinnacle-engr.com

W
ISCONSIN OFFICE:

15850 W
. BLUEM

O
UND RO

AD
BRO

O
KFIELD, W

I 53005
(262) 754-8888

ENGINEERING I NATURAL RESO
URCES I SURVEYING

P
L

A
N

 I D
E

S
IG

N
 I D

E
L

IV
E

R

CHICAGO
 I M

IL
W

A
U

K
E

E
 : N

A
TIO

N
W

ID
E

w
w

w
.

p
i

n
n

a
c

l
e

-
e

n
g

r
.

c
o

m

Z:\PRO
JECTS\2016\809.60-W

I\CAD\SHEETS\809.60 SITE PLAN.DW
G

rmartinez
Typewritten Text

rmartinez
Typewritten Text
Exhibit "A"













General  Standards.  No  special  use  permit  shall  be  recommended  or  granted  pursuant  to  this 
Ordinance unless the applicant shall establish the following: 
 
1.  

Ordinance and Comprehensive Master Plan Purposes and Intent. The proposed use and development will 

be in harmony with the general and specific purposes for which this Ordinance was enacted and for which 

the regulations of the zoning district in question were established and with the general purpose and intent 

of the City of Franklin Comprehensive Master Plan or element thereof. 

The proposed use and development are consistent and compatible with the existing zoning classification of 

R‐8 Multiple Family Residential.  

2.  

No Undue Adverse Impact. The proposed use and development will not have a substantial or undue adverse 

or detrimental effect upon or endanger adjacent property, the character of the area, or the public health, 

safety, morals,  comfort,  and general welfare and not  substantially diminish and  impair property values 

within the community or neighborhood. 

The proposed use and development will have no adverse or detrimental impacts on adjacent lands. 

 The project has been designed using  the City Engineering  Standards and  in  compliance with  the 

established bulk regulations of the R‐8 Zoning District.  

 The project includes adequate buffers from adjacent lands and STH 36. 

The proposed use and development will have no adverse or detrimental impacts on the character of the area 

 The general area is comprised on residential land use on W. Ryan Road from STH 36 to 124th Street 

 A significant residential development, Cape Crossing, was recently approved directly across W. Ryan 

Road. 

The proposed use and development will have no adverse or detrimental impacts on the public health, safety, 

morals, comfort and general welfare. 

 The  proposed  condominium  neighborhood will  be  served with  public  sanitary  sewer  and water, 

which is available at the property lines. 

 The proposed use will generate minimal traffic. Per City Engineering, a Traffic Impact Analysis is not 

warranted. 

 The proposed use is consistent with other established uses in the general area. 

 The project accommodates pedestrian connectivity and the future City Trail. 

The proposed use and development will not diminish and impair property values within the community or 

neighborhood 

 The development will have a positive impact on adjacent property values. 



3.  

No Interference with Surrounding Development. The proposed use and development will be constructed, 

arranged,  and operated  so as not  to dominate  the  immediate  vicinity  or  to  interfere with  the use and 

development of neighboring property in accordance with the applicable zoning district regulations. 

The proposed condominium neighborhood is relatively small, with 13 total units. The development will not 

dominate the immediate vicinity. 

The proposed use and development will not interfere with adjacent lands or impair their ability to develop in 

the future. 

4.  

Adequate Public Facilities. The proposed use and development will be served adequately by essential public 

facilities  and  services  such  as  streets,  public  utilities  including public water  supply  system and  sanitary 

sewer, police and fire protection, refuse disposal, public parks, libraries, schools, and other public facilities 

and utilities or the applicant will provide adequately for such facilities. 

The proposed use and development will be served with public sanitary sewer  (existing) and public water 

(being extended on W. Ryan Road). A new public street will be constructed to serve the neighborhood. 

The site location is well served by City Services. 

5.  

No Traffic Congestion. The proposed use and development will not cause undue traffic congestion nor draw 

significant  amounts  of  traffic  through  residential  streets.  Adequate measures will  be  taken  to  provide 

ingress and egress so designed as to minimize traffic congestion in the public streets. 

The proposed condominium neighborhood will generate very little traffic. The impact to W. Ryan Road traffic 

operations will be minimal. 

The  project  ingress/egress  has  been  designed  with  input  from  City  Engineering  to  ensure  safe  traffic 

operations. 

6.  

No  Destruction  of  Significant  Features.  The  proposed  use  and  development  will  not  result  in  the 

destruction, loss, or damage of any natural, scenic, or historic feature of significant importance. 

The proposed development has been designed in a manner that will not impact any of the natural resources 

on the site.  No wetlands will be impacted, and no tree clearing is proposed. 

7.  

Compliance  with  Standards.  The  special  use  shall,  in  all  other  respects,  conform  to  the  applicable 

regulations  of  the  district  in  which  it  is  located,  except  as  such  regulations may,  in  each  instance,  be 

modified by the Common Council pursuant to the recommendations of the Plan Commission. The proposed 



use and development shall comply with all additional standards imposed on it by the particular provision 

of this Division and Ordinance authorizing such use. 

 

The proposed neighborhood has been designed using the R‐8 Multiple Family Residential bulk regulations 

and Standards. In fact,  it is  less dense than what is allowed as a matter of right. Please see approved Site 

Intensity Calculations which calculate an allowed density of 48 residential dwelling units. 
 



  

 1 

 C I T Y  O F  F R A N K L I N   

REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION 
Meeting of December 7, 2023 

Special Use  
 

RECOMMENDATION:  City Development Staff recommends the Plan Commission forward the 
Special Use application to the Common Council for decision based on the recommended draft 
Resolution with conditions as attached.   
Project Name: Mr. Greens BBQ Special Use 
Property Owner: Franklin Wyndham LLC 
Applicant: Thomas Green, Jr., Mr. Greens BBQ  
Property Address/Tax Key Number: 7740 S Lovers Lane Rd, Suite 400 / 794 9001 000 
Aldermanic District: District 2 
Agent: Peter Ogorek, Perspective Design, Inc. 
Zoning District:  CC Civic Center 
Use of Surrounding Properties: CC Civic Center (east, south, and west), R-3E 

Suburban/Estate Single-Family Residence District (south)  
Application Request: To allow for a meat-smoker enclosure and overnight parking 

for a food truck 
Staff Planner: Anna Kissel, Planning Intern, & Marion Ecks, Associate 

Planner, AICP 
 
 
Background 
The applicant is seeking a Special Use Permit for an approximately 440 sq. ft. meat-smoker enclosure 
and overnight parking for a food truck. 
 
This site is part of the Shoppes at Wyndham Village. There is an existing outdoor seating area that the 
applicant intends to use; the meat-smoker enclosure will be adjacent to the building and outdoor seating 
area. The applicant plans to operate the smokers from 5am to 2pm, Tuesday through Saturday. 
 
The food truck will serve food at off-site locations. 
 
SPECIAL USE 

The lot is zoned CC Civic Center.  
• Eating places (without drive-thru facilities) is a permitted use in the CC district and the smoker 

enclosure is accessory to that use but may impact surrounding properties, and this requires the 
Special Use approval 

• Overnight parking is an accessory use that needs approval from the Plan Commission 
 
  

Item C.6. 



  

 2 

The Health Department issues the licenses for the food truck and the Retail Food Establishments.  
They reviewed this application and note that: 
 

“The Retail Food Establishment is intended to be used as the service base for the food truck.  
Logistically, this would be the ideal place to park the truck to facilitate the food truck 
operation.   

 
The outdoor smoker is approved by the Health Department with the condition that it is made of 
approved materials and no food processing other than smoking/cooking is conducted in this 
outdoor space.” 

 
The Fire Department did not have any comment on the application. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
The Plan Commission may recommend, and the Common Council may impose, conditions and limitations 
on a Special Use application related to use,  design and operation (§15-3.0701.D).  
 
The Department of City Development staff recommends the Plan Commission forward the Special Use 
application to the Common Council for decision based on the recommended draft Resolution as attached. 
The resolution reflects recommended conditions of approval. 
 
Recommended Conditions of Approval 
• The hours of operation for the meat-smokers shall be 5am to 2pm, Tuesday through Saturday. 



STATE OF WISCONSIN             CITY OF FRANKLIN               MILWAUKEE COUNTY 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2023-_____ 
 

A RESOLUTION IMPOSING CONDITIONS AND RESTRICTIONS FOR  
THE APPROVAL OF A SPECIAL USE FOR A MEAT SMOKER ENCLOSURE AND 

OVERNIGHT FOOD TRUCK PARKING UPON PROPERTY  
LOCATED AT 7740 S LOVERS LANE RD, SUITE 400. 

(BY THOMAS GREEN, JR., MR. GREENS BBQ, APPLICANT//  
FRANKLIN WYNDHAM LLC, PROPERTY OWNER) 

              
 

WHEREAS, Thomas Green, Jr., Mr Greens BBQ, having petitioned the City of Franklin 
for the approval of a Special Use for a meat smoker enclosure and overnight food truck parking, 
upon property located at 7730 S Lovers Lane Rd., zoned CC Civic Center.  The property which 
is the subject of the application bears Tax Key No. 794 9001 000 and is more particularly 
described as follows: 
 

Certified Survey Map No. 9322, SE 1/4 SEC 8-5-21, Lot 1; and 
 

 WHEREAS, such petition having been duly referred to the Plan Commission of the City 
of Franklin for a public hearing, pursuant to the requirements of §15-9.0103D. of the Unified 
Development Ordinance, and a public hearing having been held before the Plan Commission on 
the 7th day of December, 2023, and the Plan Commission thereafter having determined to 
recommend that the proposed Special Use be approved, subject to certain conditions, and the 
Plan Commission further finding that the proposed Special Use upon such conditions, pursuant 
to §15-3.0701 of the Unified Development Ordinance, will be in harmony with the purposes of 
the Unified Development Ordinance and the Comprehensive Master Plan; that they will not have 
an undue adverse impact upon adjoining property; that they will not interfere with the 
development of neighboring property; that they will be served adequately by essential public 
facilities and services; that they will not cause undue traffic congestion; and that they will not 
result in damage to property of significant importance to nature, history or the like; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Common Council having received such Plan Commission 
recommendation and also having found that the proposed Special Use, subject to conditions, 
meet the standards set forth under §15-3.0701 of the Unified Development Ordinance. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Mayor and Common Council of the 
City of Franklin, Wisconsin, that the petition of Thomas Green, Jr., Mr. Greens BBQ, for the 
approval of a Special Use for the property particularly described in the preamble to this 
Resolution, be and the same is hereby approved, subject to the following conditions and 
restrictions: 
 

1. That this Special Use is approved only for the use of the subject property by Thomas 
Green, Jr., Mr. Greens BBQ, successors and assigns, for a meat smoker enclosure and 
overnight food truck parking use, which shall be developed in substantial compliance 



THOMAS GREEN, JR., MR. GREENS BBQ – SPECIAL USE 
RESOLUTION NO. 2023-_____ 
Page 2 
 
 

with, and operated and maintained by Thomas Green, Jr., Mr. Greens BBQ, pursuant 
to those plans City file-stamped August 28, 2023 and annexed hereto and 
incorporated herein as Exhibit A. 

2. Thomas Green, Jr., Mr. Greens BBQ, successors and assigns, shall pay to the City of 
Franklin the amount of all development compliance, inspection and review fees 
incurred by the City of Franklin, including fees of consults to the City of Franklin, for 
the Thomas Green, Jr., Mr. Greens BBQ, meat smoker enclosure and overnight food 
truck parking Special Use, within 30 days of invoice for same.  Any violation of this 
provision shall be a violation of the Unified Development Ordinance, and subject to 
§15-9.0502 thereof and §1-19 of the Municipal Code, the general penalties and 
remedies provisions, as amended from time to time. 

3. The approval granted hereunder is conditional upon the Thomas Green, Jr., Mr. 
Greens BBQ, meat smoker enclosure and overnight food truck parking Special Use 
for the property located at 7740 S Lovers Lane Rd., Suite 400:  (i) being in 
compliance with all applicable governmental laws, statutes, rules, codes, orders and 
ordinances; and (ii) obtaining all other governmental approvals, permits, licenses and 
the like, required for and applicable to the project to be developed and as presented 
for this approval.    

 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that in the event Thomas Green, Jr., Mr. Greens BBQ, 
successors or assigns, or any owner of the subject property, does not comply with one or any of 
the conditions and restrictions of this Special Use Resolution, following a ten (10) day notice to 
cure, and failure to comply within such time period, the Common Council, upon notice and 
hearing, may revoke the Special Use permission granted under this Resolution. 

 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that any violation of any term, condition or restriction of 
this Resolution is hereby deemed to be, and therefore shall be, a violation of the Unified 
Development Ordinance, and pursuant to §15-9.0502 thereof and §1-19 of the Municipal Code, 
the penalty for such violation shall be a forfeiture of no more than $2,500.00, or such other 
maximum amount and together with such other costs and terms as may be specified therein from 
time to time.  Each day that such violation continues shall be a separate violation.  Failure of the 
City to enforce any such violation shall not be a waiver of that or any other violation. 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this Resolution shall be construed to be such Special 
Use Permit as is contemplated by §15-9.0103 of the Unified Development Ordinance. 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, pursuant to §15-9.0103G. of the Unified Development 
Ordinance, that the Special Use permission granted under this Resolution shall be null and void 
upon the expiration of one year from the date of adoption of this Resolution, unless the Special 
Use has been established by way of the issuance of an occupancy permit for such use. 
 



THOMAS GREEN, JR., MR. GREENS BBQ – SPECIAL USE 
RESOLUTION NO. 2023-_____ 
Page 3 
 
 

BE IT FINALLY RESOLVED, that the City Clerk be and is hereby directed to obtain the 
recording of a certified copy of this Resolution in the Office of the Register of Deeds for 
Milwaukee County, Wisconsin. 
  
 Introduced at a regular meeting of the Common Council of the City of Franklin this 
_______ day of ____________________, 2023. 
 

Passed and adopted at a regular meeting of the Common Council of the City of Franklin 
this _______ day of ____________________, 2023. 
 
       APPROVED: 
 
 
       _________________________________  
       John R. Nelson, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
___________________________________       
Karen L. Kastenson, City Clerk 
 
AYES ______ NOES ______ ABSENT ______ 



Planning Department 
(414) 425-4024

7740 S. Lovers Lane Road
TKN: 794 9001 000

This map shows the approximate relative location of property
boundaries but was not prepared by a professional land surveyor.
This map is provided for informational purposes only
and may not be sufficient or appropriate for legal, engineering,
or surveying purposes.

CC  

R-3E

B-1 

I-1 

R-8 

R-5 

R-8 

C-1 

C-1 

DREXEL
AVE

LO
VE

RS
 LA

NE
    

    
    

    
    

RD
  

N
2021 Aerial Photo

0 290 580145 Feet

Property

 



Planning Department 
(414) 425-4024

7740 S. Lovers Lane Road
TKN: 794 9001 000

This map shows the approximate relative location of property
boundaries but was not prepared by a professional land surveyor.
This map is provided for informational purposes only
and may not be sufficient or appropriate for legal, engineering,
or surveying purposes.

DREXEL
AVE

LO
VE

RS
 LA

NE
    

    
    

    
    

RD
  

N
2021 Aerial Photo

0 290 580145 Feet

Property

 





































  

 1 

 C I T Y  O F  F R A N K L I N   

REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION 
Meeting of December 7, 2023 

Special Use  
 

RECOMMENDATION:  City Development Staff recommends the Plan Commission forward the 
Special Use application to the Common Council for decision based on the recommended draft 
Resolution with conditions as attached.   
Project Name: AK Developers Special Use 
Property Owner: Franklin Wyndham LLC 
Applicant: Dharmesh Ghelani, AK Developers LLC  
Property Address/Tax Key Number: 7730 S Lovers Lane Rd, Suite 200 / 794 9999 007 
Aldermanic District: District 2 
Agent: Nick Fuchs, Wrayburn Consulting 
Zoning District:  CC Civic Center 
Use of Surrounding Properties: CC Civic Center (east, south, and west), R-3E 

Suburban/Estate Single-Family Residence District (south)  
Application Request: To allow for liquor, tobacco, & misc. retail sales 
Staff Planner: Anna Kissel, Planning Intern, & Marion Ecks, Associate 

Planner, AICP 
 
 
Background 
The applicant is seeking a Special Use Permit for an approximately 3,500 sq. ft. liquor, tobacco, & 
miscellaneous retail sale use. This site is part of the Shoppes at Wyndham Village; it is currently vacant. 
The site plan included in the meeting packet is a conceptual plan for a development with three businesses: 
a previously approved Dairy Queen and two future tenant spaces. The proposed hours of operation for 
tenant space(s) and Special Uses are no later than 9:00pm. 
 
SPECIAL USE 

The lot is zoned CC Civic Center.  
• Liquor stores (SIC code: 5921) is a Special Use in this district.  
• Tobacco stores (SIC code: 5993) is a Special Use in this district. 
• Miscellaneous retail sales (SIC code: 5999) is a Special Use in this district. 

 
Staff notes the following: 

• The applicant has provided required responses to, and complies with, the standards of §15-3.0701: 
General Standards for Special Uses.  

• The development is consistent with the existing zoning requirements, and Future Land Use 
Comprehensive Master Plan intent for the district (§15-7.0102.M). 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
The Plan Commission may recommend, and the Common Council may impose, conditions and 
limitations on a Special Use application related to use,  design, and operation (§15-3.0701.D).  
 

Item C.7. 



  

 2 

The Department of City Development staff recommends the Plan Commission forward the Special Use 
application to the Common Council for decision based on the recommended draft Resolution as attached. 
The resolution reflects recommended conditions of approval. 
 
Recommended Conditions of Approval 
• The hours of operation for business within the development shall be limited to no later than 9:00 

P.M. 
 



STATE OF WISCONSIN             CITY OF FRANKLIN               MILWAUKEE COUNTY 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2023-_____ 
 

A RESOLUTION IMPOSING CONDITIONS AND RESTRICTIONS FOR  
THE APPROVAL OF A SPECIAL USE FOR LIQUOR, TOBACCO, & MISC. RETAIL 

SALES UPON PROPERTY LOCATED AT 7730 S. LOVERS LANE RD. 
(BY DHARMESH GHELANI, AK DEVELOPERS LLC, APPLICANT//  

FRANKLIN WYNDHAM LLC, PROPERTY OWNER) 
              
 

WHEREAS, Dharmesh Ghelani, AK Developers, LLC, having petitioned the City of 
Franklin for the approval of a Special Use for liquor, tobacco, and miscellaneous retail sales, 
upon property located at 7730 S Lovers Lane Rd., zoned CC Civic Center.  The property 
which is the subject of the application bears Tax Key No. 794 9999 007and is more 
particularly described as follows: 
 

Lot 3 of Certified Survey Map No. 8567, recorded in the Office of the Register 
of Deeds for Milwaukee County, Wisconsin, on November 21, 2013. As 
Document No. 10315111; being a Redivision of Lot 1 of Certified Survey 
Map No. 8000, being a Redivision of Parcel 1 of Certified Survey Map 5762, 
Certified Survey Map No. 377, and lands in the Southwest Quarter and the 
Northwest Quarter of the Southeast Quarter of Section 8, Township 5 North, 
Range 21 East; said lands being in the City of Franklin, County of Milwaukee, 
State of Wisconsin; and 
 

 WHEREAS, such petition having been duly referred to the Plan Commission of the 
City of Franklin for a public hearing, pursuant to the requirements of §15-9.0103D. of the 
Unified Development Ordinance, and a public hearing having been held before the Plan 
Commission on the 7th day of December, 2023, and the Plan Commission thereafter having 
determined to recommend that the proposed Special Use be approved, subject to certain 
conditions, and the Plan Commission further finding that the proposed Special Use upon 
such conditions, pursuant to §15-3.0701 of the Unified Development Ordinance, will be in 
harmony with the purposes of the Unified Development Ordinance and the Comprehensive 
Master Plan; that they will not have an undue adverse impact upon adjoining property; that 
they will not interfere with the development of neighboring property; that they will be served 
adequately by essential public facilities and services; that they will not cause undue traffic 
congestion; and that they will not result in damage to property of significant importance to 
nature, history or the like; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Common Council having received such Plan Commission 
recommendation and also having found that the proposed Special Use, subject to conditions, 
meet the standards set forth under §15-3.0701 of the Unified Development Ordinance. 
 



DHARMESH GHELANI, AK DEVELOPERS LLC – SPECIAL USE 
RESOLUTION NO. 2023-_____ 
Page 2 
 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Mayor and Common Council of 
the City of Franklin, Wisconsin, that the petition of Dharmesh Ghelani, AK Developers, 
LLC, for the approval of a Special Use for the property particularly described in the 
preamble to this Resolution, be and the same is hereby approved, subject to the following 
conditions and restrictions: 
 

1. That this Special Use is approved only for the use of the subject property by 
Dharmesh Ghelani, AK Developers, LLC, successors and assigns, for a liquor, 
tobacco, & miscellaneous retail sales use, which shall be developed in substantial 
compliance with, and operated and maintained by Dharmesh Ghelani, AK 
Developers, LLC, pursuant to those plans City file-stamped October 27, 2023 and 
annexed hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit A. 

2. Dharmesh Ghelani, AK Developers, LLC, successors and assigns, shall pay to the 
City of Franklin the amount of all development compliance, inspection and review 
fees incurred by the City of Franklin, including fees of consults to the City of 
Franklin, for the Dharmesh Ghelani, AK Developers, LLC liquor, tobacco, & 
miscellaneous retail sales Special Use, within 30 days of invoice for same.  Any 
violation of this provision shall be a violation of the Unified Development 
Ordinance, and subject to §15-9.0502 thereof and §1-19 of the Municipal Code, 
the general penalties and remedies provisions, as amended from time to time. 

3. The approval granted hereunder is conditional upon the Dharmesh Ghelani, AK 
Developers, LLC liquor, tobacco, & miscellaneous retail sales Special Use for the 
property located at 7730 S Lovers Lane Rd.:  (i) being in compliance with all 
applicable governmental laws, statutes, rules, codes, orders and ordinances; and 
(ii) obtaining all other governmental approvals, permits, licenses and the like, 
required for and applicable to the project to be developed and as presented for this 
approval.    

4. The hours of operation for business(es) with any of the approved Special Uses 
shall be limited to no later than 10:00 P.M. 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that in the event Dharmesh Ghelani, AK Developers, 
LLC , successors or assigns, or any owner of the subject property, does not comply with one 
or any of the conditions and restrictions of this Special Use Resolution, following a ten (10) 
day notice to cure, and failure to comply within such time period, the Common Council, 
upon notice and hearing, may revoke the Special Use permission granted under this 
Resolution. 

 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that any violation of any term, condition or 
restriction of this Resolution is hereby deemed to be, and therefore shall be, a violation of the 
Unified Development Ordinance, and pursuant to §15-9.0502 thereof and §1-19 of the 



DHARMESH GHELANI, AK DEVELOPERS LLC – SPECIAL USE 
RESOLUTION NO. 2023-_____ 
Page 3 
 
 
Municipal Code, the penalty for such violation shall be a forfeiture of no more than 
$2,500.00, or such other maximum amount and together with such other costs and terms as 
may be specified therein from time to time.  Each day that such violation continues shall be a 
separate violation.  Failure of the City to enforce any such violation shall not be a waiver of 
that or any other violation. 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this Resolution shall be construed to be such 
Special Use Permit as is contemplated by §15-9.0103 of the Unified Development 
Ordinance. 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, pursuant to §15-9.0103G. of the Unified 
Development Ordinance, that the Special Use permission granted under this Resolution shall 
be null and void upon the expiration of one year from the date of adoption of this Resolution, 
unless the Special Use has been established by way of the issuance of an occupancy permit 
for such use. 
 

BE IT FINALLY RESOLVED, that the City Clerk be and is hereby directed to obtain 
the recording of a certified copy of this Resolution in the Office of the Register of Deeds for 
Milwaukee County, Wisconsin. 
  
 Introduced at a regular meeting of the Common Council of the City of Franklin this 
_______ day of ____________________, 2023. 
 

Passed and adopted at a regular meeting of the Common Council of the City of 
Franklin this _______ day of ____________________, 2023. 
 
       APPROVED: 
 
 
       _________________________________  
       John R. Nelson, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
___________________________________       
Karen L. Kastenson, City Clerk 
 
AYES ______ NOES ______ ABSENT ______ 



Planning Department 
(414) 425-4024

7730 S. Lovers Lane Road
TKN: 794 9999 007

This map shows the approximate relative location of property
boundaries but was not prepared by a professional land surveyor.
This map is provided for informational purposes only
and may not be sufficient or appropriate for legal, engineering,
or surveying purposes.

CC  

R-3E

I-1 

B-1 

R-5 

R-8 

R-8 

C-1 

C-1 

DREXEL                         AVE  

LO VERS LANE
RD

N
2021 Aerial Photo

0 320 640160 Feet

Property

 



Planning Department 
(414) 425-4024

7730 S. Lovers Lane Road
TKN: 794 9999 007

This map shows the approximate relative location of property
boundaries but was not prepared by a professional land surveyor.
This map is provided for informational purposes only
and may not be sufficient or appropriate for legal, engineering,
or surveying purposes.

DREXEL                         AVE  

LO
VE

RS
 LA

NE
    

    
    

    
    

RD
  

N
2021 Aerial Photo

0 320 640160 Feet

Property

 









Wrayburn Consulting, LLC 
info@wrayburnconsulting.com 

2000 Fairhaven Boulevard 
Elm Grove, WI 53122 

262-442-4327 
 
 

 

1 
 

 
October 27, 2023 
 
Project Narrative:  Special Use Application for a proposed retail use 
 
We are proposing to construct an approximately 8,298 square foot multi-tenant retail building 
upon property located at 7730 S. Lovers Lane Road within the Shoppes at Wyndham Village 
development.  
 
Two specific tenants are currently anticipated, and a third tenant is yet to be determined. One 
tenant is a Dairy Queen Grill and Chill. A Special Use Permit was submitted for the proposed 
drive-through associated with the restaurant. The drive-through use received a 
recommendation of approval at the September 7, 2023 Plan Commission meeting and final 
approval by the Common Council at their September 19, 2023 meeting.  
 
The second use, which is the subject of this application, is a retail store, primarily selling liquor 
and tobacco products. Below is a table of Standard Industrial Classification Codes that this use 
falls under, which are allowed as a Special Use within the City Civic Center District. 
 

SIC Code Classification Allowance within the CC District 
SIC Code No. 5921 Liquor Stores Special Use 
SIC Code No. 5993 Tobacco Stores Special Use 
SIC Code No. 5999 Miscellaneous Retail Special Use 

 
The proposed business is expected to have 3 employees and hours of operations from 9:00 a.m. 
to 9:00 p.m. It is also anticipated that about 70% of sales will be from the liquor store 
operation, about 25% from tobacco, and about 5% from miscellaneous items.  
  
The owner intends to apply for a Class A Liquor License, which is the same license acquired by 
Pick ‘N Save for liquor and tobacco sales and Target for liquor sales. The proposed retail use fits 
in and is consistent with the other retail uses within the Shoppes at Wyndham Village 
development.  
 
Responses to Section 15-3.0701, General Standards for Special Uses, have been provided as 
well as a conceptual site and floor plans.  
 
 

mailto:info@wrayburnconsulting.com


Wrayburn Consulting, LLC 
info@wrayburnconsulting.com 

2000 Fairhaven Boulevard 
Elm Grove, WI 53122 

262-442-4327 
 
 

 

2 
 

 
It should be noted that it is our intent to maintain and preserve the existing landscape buffer 
along the north property line. Moreover, hours of operations will be limited to 9:00 p.m. for 
this retail use, which is earlier than concurrently proposed restaurant and drive-through use. 
Furthermore, any illumination and illuminated signage will be shut off within the same 
timeframe as the other tenants within the development. 
 
Sufficient parking will be provided as demonstrated on the site plan, and lighting will be 
designed and consistent with the existing lighting at the shopping center. As such, there are no 
adverse impacts to the surrounding area. Detailed site and building plans will be submitted 
following approval of the Special Use. 
 
We have also provided information and addressed all comments contained within the City’s 
comment letter dated October 25, 2023. This includes the Fire Department comments which 
are understood and will be met.   
 
Sincerely,  
 
 
 
Nick Fuchs 
 
 
  

mailto:info@wrayburnconsulting.com


Page | 1  
 

DIVISION 15-3.0700 SPECIAL USE STANDARDS AND REGULATIONS 
 
SECTION 15-3.0701 GENERAL STANDARDS FOR SPECIAL USES 
 
A. General Standards. No special use permit shall be recommended or granted pursuant to 

this Ordinance unless the applicant shall establish the following: 
 
1. Ordinance and Comprehensive Master Plan Purposes and Intent. The proposed use and 

development will be in harmony with the general and specific purposes for which this 
Ordinance was enacted and for which the regulations of the zoning district in question 
were established and with the general purpose and intent of the City of Franklin 
Comprehensive Master Plan or element thereof. 
 
Response: The subject property is zoned CC City Civic Center District, which is intended to 

serve as the new “downtown” of the City. The district promotes mixed-use 
development, including retail uses. The proposed use fits in and is consistent 
with existing uses located within the Shoppes at Wyndham Village development. 
Furthermore, the site design and building architecture will be consistent with 
the characteristics of the developed areas of the shopping center as well as the 
intent of the CC District.  

 
The zoning and this proposed use is consistent with the City’s Comprehensive 
Master Plan and future land use designation of Mixed Use. There are many 
goals and objectives of the Comprehensive Master Plan met by this development 
including #1, #2, #5, #6, #7, #8, #9, #10, #11, #12, #14, #15, #19, and #22 of 
Chapter 2 of said plan.   

 
2. No Undue Adverse Impact. The proposed use and development will not have a substantial or 

undue adverse or detrimental effect upon or endanger adjacent property, the character of the area, 
or the public health, safety, morals, comfort, and general welfare and not substantially diminish 
and impair property values within the community or neighborhood. 
 
Response: The proposed use will be located within a multi-tenant retail building. The 

proposed site plan and architecture of the building will be consistent with the 
existing developments within the shopping center. Furthermore, bufferyards 
have already been established and will be maintained and improved as part of 
this development. 

 
3. No Interference with Surrounding Development. The proposed use and development will 

be constructed, arranged, and operated so as not to dominate the immediate vicinity or to 
interfere with the use and development of neighboring property in accordance with the 
applicable zoning district regulations. 
 
Response: The proposed use will be located within a multi-tenant retail building, which 

is designed to match and be consistent with the existing buildings and sites 
within the Shoppes at Wyndham Village shopping center.  

 
The subject property is planned for retail uses, similar to that of the 
surrounding properties within the development. As such, the proposed use 



Page | 2  
 

and development will not interfere with surrounding developments, but 
rather fill a vacant outlot within an existing development. 
 
Furthermore, all zoning district regulations will be met, and the use and 
development will not impact the use and development of any adjacent 
properties, which are currently fully developed and improved.   

 
4. Adequate Public Facilities.  The proposed use and development will be served adequately 

by essential public facilities and services such as streets, public utilities including public water 
supply system and sanitary sewer, police and fire protection, refuse disposal, public parks, 
libraries, schools, and other public facilities and utilities or the applicant will provide 
adequately for such facilities. 
 
Response: The Shoppes at Wyndham Village is a fully developed and serviced shopping 

center, except for this last outlot. The development already has all the 
amenities and public facilities listed above, including public sewer and water.  

 
5. No Traffic Congestion. The proposed use and development will not cause undue traffic 

congestion nor draw significant amounts of traffic through residential streets. Adequate 
measures will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed as to minimize traffic 
congestion in the public streets. 
 
Response: There will be a minimum of two points of ingress and egress to the outlot, 

which allows customers and traffic to safely and adequately enter and exit 
the site. The access to the site is within the development itself. There is no 
direct access to a public street.  

 
The site plan illustrates sufficient queuing for the other restaurant use, 
which is located around the building and in a manner not to block parking 
stalls or cause any congestion onsite for this use or any other future tenants. 
 
The Shoppes at Wyndham Village is accessible from major roadways, S. 
Lovers Lane Road (HWY 100) and West Drexel Avenue. No traffic is 
required to enter or exit through residential streets.   

 
6. No Destruction of Significant Features. The proposed use and development will not result 

in the destruction, loss, or damage of any natural, scenic, or historic feature of significant 
importance. 
 
Response: The proposed use and development is located within an outlot of the Shoppes 

at Wyndham Village development. This is a ready to build site within this 
existing development. The site has been planned for development since the 
shopping center was originally constructed. As such, there is no destruction 
or loss or damage to any protected natural resources. 

 
7. Compliance with Standards. The special use shall, in all other respects, conform to the 

applicable regulations of the district in which it is located, except as such regulations 
may, in each instance, be modified by the Common Council pursuant to the recommendations 
of the Plan Commission. The proposed use and development shall comply with all additional 



Page | 3  
 

standards imposed on it by the particular provision of this Division and Ordinance authorizing 
such use. 
 
Response: The proposed use and development of the site will comply with all City Civic 

Center District standards as well as all other applicable standards of the 
Unified Development Ordinance. 

  
B. Special Standards for Specified Special Uses. When the zoning district regulations authorize 

a special use in a particular zoning district and that special use is indicated as having special 
standards, as set forth in Section 15-3.0702 and 15-3.0703 of this Division, a Special Use 
Permit for such use in such zoning district shall not be recommended or granted unless the 
applicant shall establish compliance with all such special standards. 
 
Response No special standards are listed within Section 15-3.0702 as these are for uses 

located within Residential Districts.  
 

The proposed retail use is not a specifically listed special use within Section 
15-3.0703. As such, there are no additional standards to address. With that 
said, the proposed use and development will comply with all applicable 
standards of the Unified Development Ordinance. 

 
C. Considerations. In determining whether the applicant's evidence establishes that the foregoing 

standards have been met, the Plan Commission and the Common Council shall consider the 
following: 

 
1. Public Benefit. Whether and to what extent the proposed use and development at the 

particular location requested is necessary or desirable to provide a service or a facility that is 
in the interest of the public convenience or that will contribute to the general welfare of the 
neighborhood or community. 
 
Response: The proposed use is a retail use that is compatible with the other retail uses 

within the shopping center. Moreover, the additional customer base and 
traffic will benefit the other uses within the development. 

 
 It is also a benefit to the community and this development to improve the 

subject vacant outlot and to add to the mix of tenants and uses within the 
existing shopping center. The use provides additional options for residents to 
purchase liquor, tobacco, and other products sold at this location.  

 
 The development also adds to the Community’s tax base and positively 

contributes to the City’s 70/30 tax goal. 
 

2. Alternative Locations. Whether and to what extent such public goals can be met by the 
location of the proposed use and development at some other site or in some other area that 
may be more appropriate than the proposed site. 
 
Response: There may be other possible retail locations; however, this site lends itself to 

this proposed use as it is a retail use locating within a well-established retail 
shopping center. There is no reason to believe that a similar retail 



Page | 4  
 

development would provide any more or less benefits than the subject 
property. This development and, in part the proposed use, will finally 
complete and result in the full development of the Shoppes at Wyndham 
Village.  

 
3. Mitigation of Adverse Impacts. Whether and to what extent all steps possible have been 

taken to minimize any adverse effects of the proposed use and development on the immediate 
vicinity through building design, site design, landscaping, and screening. 
 
Response: The proposed development will maintain and improve upon the existing 

landscape buffer by adding landscaping to the site. Site lighting will be 
designed in a manner consistent with the existing lighting of the development 
and will consider the residential uses to the north. Hours of operations will 
be kept within a timeframe that will not adversely impact any surrounding 
uses, including the residential subdivision to the north. Ingress and egress to 
the site is internal to the development with no direct access to public streets. 
Moreover, the adjacent arterial streets are more than adequate to support any 
additional traffic to the site.  

 
4. Establishment of Precedent of Incompatible Uses in the Surrounding Area. Whether the 

use will establish a precedent of, or encourage, more intensive or incompatible uses in the 
surrounding area. 
 
Response: The proposed use is a retail use within an existing retail development. It is 

consistent and compatible with all uses within this development. It is not a 
use that is more intense than other uses. The proposed use will rather have a 
positive impact to the shopping center by bringing more people and 
customers the development and other businesses. 



TR
A

C
T 

B
A

 6
 W

YN
D

H
A

M
 V

IL
LA

G
E

W
ES

T 
D

R
EX

EL
 A

VE
N

U
E

C
IT

Y 
O

F 
FR

A
N

K
LI

N
, W

I 5
31

32

CONCEPT

10/12/2023

C1.02

PROPOSED
SITE PLAN

12
2 

W
is

co
ns

in
 S

tre
et

, W
es

t B
en

d,
 W

I 5
30

95
26

2.
34

6.
78

00
   

   
   

  w
w

w
.p

ar
is

hs
e.

co
m

JDR

JDR

KJP

\ED-12-23\



FLOOR PLAN

SCALE: 3/16" = 1'-0"

1

GROSS BUILDING AREA: 8,298 S.F.

1
8

"
1

8
"

8
4

"

8
4

"

3
6

"

4
2

"

3
6

"

3
6

"

4
2

"

3
6

"

3
6

"

4
2

"

3
6

"

1
8

"

84"

84"

1
1

2
"

1
1

2
"

1
1

2
"

1
1

2
"

84"

84"

8
4

"

8
4

"

4
8

"

84"

84"

103

1
8

"

44"

8
4

"

8
4

"

3
6

"

4
2

"

3
6

"

3
6

"

4
2

"

3
6

"

3
6

"

4
2

"

3
6

"

4
4

"

9
8

"

98"

1
8

"

1
8

"

TENANT 1: DAIRY QUEEN

AREA: 2,389 S.F.

TENANT 2: FUTURE LIQUOR STORE

AREA: 3,469 S.F.

TENANT 3: FUTURE RESTAURANT

AREA: 2,440 S.F.

UNISEX

RISER

ROOM

MENS

WOMENS

SHEET

DATE

SET USE

PROJECT NUMBER

REVISIONS

SHEET TITLE

en
vi

si
on

 d
es

ig
n

A
 
R

 
C

 
H

 
I
 
T

 
E

 
C

 
T

 
U

 
R

 
E

F
R

A
N

K
LI

N
 T

E
N

A
N

T
 B

U
IL

D
IN

G

W
. D

R
E

X
E

L 
A

V
E

F
R

A
N

K
LI

N
, W

I

SCHEMATIC

***

09.08.2023

XX.XX.XXXXXX.XX.XXXX

XX.XX.XXXX

XX.XX.XXXXXX.XX.XXXX

XX.XX.XXXX

XX.XX.XXXX

XX.XX.XXXXXX.XX.XXXX

XX.XX.XXXX

FIRST FLOOR PLAN

A2.1

AutoCAD SHX Text
c.h.

AutoCAD SHX Text
c.h.

AutoCAD SHX Text
c.h.

AutoCAD SHX Text
c.h.

AutoCAD SHX Text
c.h.

AutoCAD SHX Text
c.h.

AutoCAD SHX Text
c.h.

AutoCAD SHX Text
c.h.



 
 

1 

 CITY OF FRANKLIN  
REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION 

 

Meeting of December 7, 2023 
 

Special Use 
 

RECOMMENDATION:  City Development Staff recommends approval of this Special Use application 
subject to the conditions set forth in this staff report and the attached resolution.  

Project name: On Cloud Wine – Special Use 
Property Owner: Park Place Holdings 
Applicant: Randy Larson, On Cloud Wine 
Property Address/TKN: 10064  W. Loomis Rd. / 841 0073 000 
Aldermanic District: District 6 
Zoning District: PDD 26 – Deerwood Woodlake Towering Oaks  
Staff Planner: Anna Kissel, Planning Intern 
 

Project Description/Analysis 

Special Use request to allow for a wine bar in the multi-tenant building located in the PDD 26 zoning 
district. Wine bars are classified as “drinking places (without drive-through facilities)” under Standard 
Industrial Classification (SIC) Title No. 5813, which requires a special use permit in the PDD 26 zoning 
district. 
 
The proposed use would be located in one of the central tenant spaces in the building. According to the 
project narrative, the applicant is not proposing any exterior improvements at this time.   
 
The applicant has submitted a substantially complete application for a special use permit, allowing for 
Section § 15-3.0701 of the Unified Development Ordinance sets out the General Standards for Special 
Uses.  
 
City Development staff does not anticipate adverse impacts to adjacent properties. 
 
Staff Recommendation: 
City Development Staff recommends approval of this Special Use application subject to the following 
conditions: 

• The hours of operation be limited to no later than 10:00 p.m. Wednesdays through Saturdays. 

Item C.8. 



STATE OF WISCONSIN             CITY OF FRANKLIN               MILWAUKEE COUNTY 
RESOLUTION NO. 2023-_____ 

 
A RESOLUTION IMPOSING CONDITIONS AND RESTRICTIONS  

FOR THE APPROVAL OF A SPECIAL USE FOR A DRINKING PLACE (WITHOUT 
DRIVE-THROUGH FACILITIES) USE UPON PROPERTY LOCATED  

AT 10064 W. LOOMIS ROAD, 
(RANDY LARSON, ON CLOUD WINE; APPLICANT) 

              
 
 WHEREAS, Randy Larson, On Cloud Wine, having petitioned the City of Franklin 
for the approval of a Special Use within the Planned Development District 26 – Deerwood 
Woodlake Towering Oaks, under Standard Industrial Classification Title No. 5813 “Drinking 
Place (without drive-through facilities)”, to operate an wine bar facility with proposed hours 
of operation Wednesday through Friday, from 3:00 p.m. to 9:00 p.m. and Saturdays 3:00 
p.m. to 10:00 p.m., located at 10064 W. Loomis Rd., bearing Tax Key No. 841-0073-000, 
more particularly described as follows: 

 
Lot 1, Deerwood Preserve Addition No. 1, being a redivision of Lot 1 and 
Outlots 1, 2, 3, and 5 of Deerwood Preserve, also being a redivision of Parcels 
1 and 2 and Outlot 1 of Certified Survey Map No. 5228, all lands being a part 
of the Northeast 1/4, Southeast 1/4, Southwest 1/4, and Northwest 1/4 of the 
Southwest 1/4 of Section 17 and in part of the Northeast 1/4 of the Northwest 
1/4 of Section 20, Town 5 North, Range 21 East. Said land being in the City of 
Franklin, County of Milwaukee, and State of Wisconsin. 
 

 WHEREAS, such petition having been duly referred to the Plan Commission of the 
City of Franklin for a public hearing, pursuant to the requirements of §15-9.0103D. of the 
Unified Development Ordinance, and a public hearing having been held before the Plan 
Commission on the 7th day of December, 2023, and the Plan Commission thereafter having 
determined to recommend that the proposed Special Use be approved, subject to certain 
conditions, and the Plan Commission further finding that the proposed Special Use upon 
such conditions, pursuant to §15-3.0701 of the Unified Development Ordinance, will be in 
harmony with the purposes of the Unified Development Ordinance and the Comprehensive 
Master Plan; that it will not have an undue adverse impact upon adjoining property; that it 
will not interfere with the development of neighboring property; that it will be served 
adequately by essential public facilities and services; that it will not cause undue traffic 
congestion; and that it will not result in damage to property of significant importance to 
nature, history or the like; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Common Council having received such Plan Commission 
recommendation and also having found that the proposed Special Use, subject to conditions, 
meets the standards set forth under §15-3.0701 of the Unified Development Ordinance. 
 



RANDY LARSON, ON CLOUD WINE – SPECIAL USE 
RESOLUTION NO. 2023-_____ 
Page 2 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Mayor and Common Council of 
the City of Franklin, Wisconsin, that the petition of Randy Larson, On Cloud Wine, for the 
approval of a Special Use for the property particularly described in the preamble to this 
Resolution, be and the same is hereby approved, subject to the following conditions and 
restrictions: 

 
1. That this Special Use is approved only for the use of the subject property On Cloud 

Wine, successors and assigns, as a drinking place (without drive-through facilities) 
use, which shall be developed in substantial compliance with, and operated and 
maintained by On Cloud Wine, pursuant to the application materials City file-stamped 
October 20, 2023 and annexed hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit A.   

2. Randy Larson, On Cloud Wine, successors and assigns, shall pay to the City of 
Franklin the amount of all development compliance, inspection and review fees 
incurred by the City of Franklin, including fees of consults to the City of Franklin, for 
the On Cloud Wine drinking place (without drive-through facilities) use, within 30 
days of invoice for same.  Any violation of this provision shall be a violation of the 
Unified Development Ordinance, and subject to §15-9.0502 thereof and §1-19 of the 
Municipal Code, the general penalties and remedies provisions, as amended from 
time to time. 

3. The approval granted hereunder is conditional upon On Cloud Wine and the drinking 
place (without drive-through facilities) use for the property located at 10064 W. 
Loomis Road: (i) being in compliance with all applicable governmental laws, statutes, 
rules, codes, orders and ordinances; and (ii) obtaining all other governmental 
approvals, permits, licenses and the like, required for and applicable to the project to 
be developed and as presented for this approval. 

4. All signage shall comply with the requirements of Chapter 210 of the Municipal Code 
and must receive a Sign Permit from the City Development Department prior to 
installation. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that in the event Randy Larson, On Cloud Wine, 
successors or assigns, or any owner of the subject property, does not comply with one or any 
of the conditions and restrictions of this Special Use Resolution, following a ten (10) day 
notice to cure, and failure to comply within such time period, the Common Council, upon 
notice and hearing, may revoke the Special Use permission granted under this Resolution. 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that any violation of any term, condition or 
restriction of this Resolution is hereby deemed to be, and therefore shall be, a violation of the 
Unified Development Ordinance, and pursuant to §15-9.0502 thereof and §1-19 of the 
Municipal Code, the penalty for such violation shall be a forfeiture of no more than 
$2,500.00, or such other maximum amount and together with such other costs and terms as 
may be specified therein from time to time.  Each day that such violation continues shall be a 



RANDY LARSON, ON CLOUD WINE – SPECIAL USE 
RESOLUTION NO. 2023-_____ 
Page 3 
 
separate violation.  Failure of the City to enforce any such violation shall not be a waiver of 
that or any other violation. 

 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this Resolution shall be construed to be such 
Special Use Permit as is contemplated by §15-9.0103 of the Unified Development 
Ordinance. 
 
 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, pursuant to §15-9.0103G. of the Unified 
Development Ordinance, that the Special Use permission granted under this Resolution shall 
be null and void upon the expiration of one year from the date of adoption of this Resolution, 
unless the Special Use has been established by way of the issuance of an occupancy permit 
for such use. 
 

BE IT FINALLY RESOLVED, that the City Clerk be and is hereby directed to obtain 
the recording of a certified copy of this Resolution in the Office of the Register of Deeds for 
Milwaukee County, Wisconsin. 
  
 Introduced at a regular meeting of the Common Council of the City of Franklin this 
_______ day of ____________________, 2023. 
 
 
 Passed and adopted at a regular meeting of the Common Council of the City of 
Franklin this _______ day of ____________________, 2023. 
 
        
 
 

APPROVED: 
 
 
       _________________________________  
       John R. Nelson, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
__________________________________       
Karen L. Kastenson, City Clerk 
 
AYES ______ NOES ______ ABSENT ______ 



Planning Department 
(414) 425-4024

10064 W. Loomis Road
TKN: 841 0073 000

This map shows the approximate relative location of property
boundaries but was not prepared by a professional land surveyor.
This map is provided for informational purposes only
and may not be sufficient or appropriate for legal, engineering,
or surveying purposes.

B-3 

PDD 

P-1 

C-1 

C-1 

R-3 

LO
OMIS 

     
     

     
     

    R
D  

10
0T

H 
ST

DEERWOOD

LN

PRIVATE

N
2021 Aerial Photo

0 230 460115 Feet

Property

 



Planning Department 
(414) 425-4024

10064 W. Loomis Road
TKN: 841 0073 000

This map shows the approximate relative location of property
boundaries but was not prepared by a professional land surveyor.
This map is provided for informational purposes only
and may not be sufficient or appropriate for legal, engineering,
or surveying purposes.

LO
OMIS 

     
     

     
     

    R
D  

10
0T

H 
ST

DEERWOOD

LN

PRIVATE

N
2021 Aerial Photo

0 230 460115 Feet

Property

 





























1

 C I T Y  O F  F R A N K L I N  

REPORT TO THE PLAN COMMISSION 

Meeting of December 7, 2023 
Special Use Amendment, Miscellaneous Application, and Site Plan Amendment 

RECOMMENDATION:  City Development Staff recommends the Plan Commission forward the 
Special Use application to the Common Council for decision based upon the recommended draft 
Resolution and approve the Site Plan Amendment Application.   

Project Name: Master Halco  

Property Owner: Platt Construction Inc.

Applicant: Mike Uhl, Master Halco  

Property Address/Tax Key Number:  7407 S 27th St./ 761 9994 006 

Aldermanic District: District 4 

Agent: Luke Sebald, Keller Inc. 

Zoning District: B-4 South 27th St Mixed Use Commercial District 

Use of Surrounding Properties: B-4 S. 27th St Mixed Use Commercial District (north),  

BP Business Park and OL-1 Office Overlay (south),  

R-6 Suburban Single-Family Residence and OL-1 Office 

Overlay (west), 

City of Oak Creek (east) 

Application Request: To allow for a fence wholesale and distribution use with 

light fabrication and outdoor storage and associated site 

changes. 

Staff Planner: Nick Fuchs, Planning Associate

Background 

The applicant, Master Halco, is seeking Special Use Amendment/Miscellaneous Application and Site 
Plan Amendment approval to operate a fence wholesale and distribution use with light fabrication and 
outdoor storage. The Special Use and Site Plan Amendment are described in detail further below. 

The site is currently being utilized by Platt Construction, which first obtained Special Use approval in 
1992 via Resolution No. 92-3753. This Special Use allowed for an “outdoor construction yard and 
storage in conjunction with an office building and indoor storage building.” 

The proposed use is similar in nature and will utilize the site and building in manner consistent with the 
original special use approval.  

SPECIAL USE 

The subject property is zoned B-4 South 27th Street Mixed Use Commercial District. Master Halco 
anticipates approximately 12 to 15 employees and hours of operation between 7:00 a.m. and 4:30 p.m. 
Monday through Friday. 

The applicant has indicated that the business is not generally open to the public and sales are business to 
business. The majority of the product is stored outside within the storage yard located to the west of the 

Item C.2./D.1. 



2

main building. This building will contain space for light fabrication of gates, racked storage, and office 
space.  

The applicant has provided responses to the Special Use standards listed within Section 15-3.0701 of the 
UDO for Plan Commission and Common Council review.  

SITE PLAN 

The applicant is proposing a variety of site modifications. The building is also proposed to be painted 
as illustrated on the attached elevations.  

The site changes include, but are not limited to: 
 Relocating light poles, removing a walkway, and removing trees to construct a new 27-stall 

parking lot in front of the principal building adjacent to South 27th Street. 
o Parking spaces are 9’ wide and 19’ in length (171 square feet). It appears a 20’ long 

parking space could be achieved with adjustments to the design, in part by reducing the 
drive aisle to 24-feet. Staff recommends parking spaces be a minimum of 9’ wide and 
180 square feet in compliance with Section 15-5.0202 of the UDO. It can be noted that 
allowance for slightly shorter parking spaces has been allowed in past developments 
with the consideration of an overhang when parking spaces are abutting a curb.   

 Removing parking lot landscape islands that are located to the north of the building. 
 Adding 18 deciduous trees, 8 evergreen trees, and 127 shrubs, which is in conformance with 

landscaping quantity requirements of the UDO.   
 Adding building lighting, including lighting on the multiple sheds located to the west of the 

main building and to the rear of the main building. 
 Adding parking lot lighting for the new parking lot. 
 Construction of a storm water pond at the southwest corner of the property. 
 Proposing to add crushed gravel and concrete on the west side of the property. 

o The site plan indicates an existing impervious area of 6.168 acres and greenspace of 
2.186 acres. The proposed improvements will result in a total impervious area of 5.753 
acres and greenspace of 2.601 acres. Staff finds that the increase in greenspace is due to 
the proposed storm water pond. With a site size of 8.354 acres, about 2.51 acres of 
greenspace is required per the 0.30 minimum LSR standard of the B-4 District.  

o It can be noted that, in review of historical aerial photography, it is difficult to 
determine the extent of the existing graveled areas over the years. It does appear the 
existing fence location was in place and defined at the time of development. All 
proposed improvements are within this area.   

The applicant also provided a Natural Resource Protection Plan indicating that no protected natural 
resources exist onsite. WDNR mapping was also reviewed and did not show any mapped wetlands 
onsite. 

All B-4 District Development Standards are met. Note South 27th Street Design Overlay District 
Standards do not apply as no new buildings are proposed and no building addition that increases floor 
area by 50% is proposed.  

Staff also finds the proposed modifications are in conformance with Part 5 Design Standards of the 
UDO, except for the parking space size as noted above. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 



3

The Plan Commission may recommend, and the Common Council may impose, conditions and limitations 
on a Special Use application related to use, design and operation (§15-3.0701.D).  

The Department of City Development staff recommends the Plan Commission forward the Special Use 
application to the Common Council for decision based on the recommended draft Resolution as attached. 
The resolution reflects recommended conditions of approval. 

The Department of City Development staff recommends the Plan Commission approve the Site Plan 
Amendment application for the proposed site modifications as depicted on the attached plans. 

Recommended Conditions of Approval 

 Special Use 
o Outdoor storage shall be limited to the fenced-in concrete and gravel area located to 

the west of the principal building and shall be kept in an orderly manner as determined 
by the Zoning Administrator or Plan Commission.  

o No overnight parking of commercial vehicles shall be allowed outside of the storage 
yard located behind or to the west of the principal building.   

 Site Plan 
o Final grading, erosion control, and stormwater management plans shall be approved 

by the Engineering Department prior to any land disturbance activities.  
o Parking spaces shall be a minimum of 9’ wide and 180 square feet in compliance with 

Section 15-5.0202 of the UDO. [This condition must be added to the attached draft 
resolution]



STATE OF WISCONSIN        CITY OF FRANKLIN      MILWAUKEE COUNTY                      

[Draft 11-25-23]
RESOLUTION NO. 2023- 

A RESOLUTION IMPOSING CONDITIONS AND RESTRICTIONS FOR 
THE APPROVAL OF A SPECIAL USE AMENDMENT FOR A FENCE 

WAREHOUSE, DISTRIBUTION, AND FABRICATION BUSINESS USE WITH 
OUTDOOR STORAGE UPON PROPERTY LOCATED AT 7407 SOUTH 27TH 

STREET 
(BY MASTER-HALCO, INC. APPLICANT, 

PLATT CONSTRUCTION INC., PROPERTY 
OWNER) 

WHEREAS, Master-Halco, Inc., having petitioned the City of Franklin for the 
approval of a Special Use Amendment for a fence warehouse, distribution, and fabrication 
business use with outdoor storage upon property located at 7407 S 27th Street, such Special 
Use having been previously approved on February 4, 1992 by Resolution No. 92-3753, 
zoned B-4 South 27th St Mixed Use Commercial District. The property which is the subject 
of the application bears Tax Key No. 761 9994 006 and is more particularly described as 
follows: 

PARCEL 1 OF CERTIFIED SURVEY MAP NO. 5794, RECORDED ON 
JANUARY 14, 1993 ON REEL 2948, IMAGE 745 TO 749 AS DOCUMENT 
NO. 6715343, BEING A DIVISION OF LANDS IN THE SOUTHEAST ¼ 
AND SOUTHWEST ¼ OF THE NORTHEAST ¼ OF SECTION 12, TOWN 
5 NORTH, RANGE 21 EAST, EXCEPTING THEREFROM LANDS 
CONVEYED IN WARRANTY DEED RECORDED AUGUST 21, 2014 AS 
DOCUMENT NO. 10387598, SAID LAND BEING IN THE CITY OF 
FRANKLIN, COUNTY OF MILWAUKEE, STATE OF WISCONSIN. 

WHEREAS, such petition having been duly referred to the Plan Commission of the 
City of Franklin for a public hearing, pursuant to the requirements of §15- 9.0103D. of the 
Unified Development Ordinance, and a public hearing having been held before the Plan 
Commission on the 9th day of November, 2023 and 7th day of December, 2023, and the Plan 
Commission thereafter having determined to recommend that the proposed Special Use 
Amendment be approved, subject to certain conditions, and the Plan Commission further 
finding that the proposed Special Use Amendment upon such conditions, pursuant to §15-
3.0701 of the Unified Development Ordinance, will be in harmony with the purposes of the 
Unified Development Ordinance and the Comprehensive Master Plan; that they will not 
have an undue adverse impact upon adjoining property; that they will not interfere 
with the development of neighboring property; that they will be served adequately by 
essential public facilities and services; that they will not cause undue traffic congestion; and  



MASTER-HALCO, INC. – SPECIAL USE AMENDMENT 

RESOLUTION NO. 2023-  

that they will not result in damage to property of significant importance to nature, history or 
the like; and 

WHEREAS, the Common Council having received such Plan Commission 
recommendation and also having found that the proposed Special Use Amendment, subject 
to conditions, meet the standards set forth under §15-3.0701 of the Unified Development 
Ordinance. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Mayor and Common Council of 
the City of Franklin, Wisconsin, that the petition of Master-Halco, Inc. for the approval of a 
Special Use Amendment for the property particularly described in the preamble to this 
Resolution, be and the same is hereby approved, subject to the following conditions and 
restrictions: 

1. That this Special Use Amendment is approved only for the use of the subject 
property by Master-Halco, Inc., successors and assigns, for a fence warehouse 
and distribution use with light fabrication and outdoor storage, which shall be 
developed in substantial compliance with, and owned and operated and 
maintained by Master-Halco, Inc., pursuant to those plans City dated October 23, 
2023 and annexed hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibit A. 

2. Master-Halco, Inc., successors and assigns, shall pay to the City of Franklin the 
amount of all development compliance, inspection and review fees incurred by 
the City of Franklin, including fees of consults to the City of Franklin, for the 
Master-Halco, Inc. Special Use Amendment, within 30 days of invoice for same.  
Any violation of this provision shall be a violation of the Unified Development 
Ordinance, and subject to §15-9.0502 thereof and §1-19 of the Municipal Code, 
the general penalties and remedies provisions, as amended from time to time. 

3. The approval granted hereunder is conditional upon Master-Halco, Inc. Special 
Use Amendment for the property located at 7407 S 27thd St.: (i) being in 
compliance with all applicable governmental laws, statutes, rules, codes, orders 
and ordinances; and (ii) obtaining all other governmental approvals, permits, 
licenses and the like, required for and applicable to the project to be developed 
and as presented for this approval. 

4. Outdoor storage shall be limited to the concrete and gravel area located to the 
west of the principal building and shall be kept in an orderly manner. 

5. No overnight parking of commercial vehicles shall be allowed outside of the 
storage yard located behind or to the west of the principal building. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that in the event Master-Halco, Inc., successors or 
assigns, or any owner of the subject property, does not comply with one or any of the 
conditions and restrictions of this Special Use Amendment Resolution, following a ten (10) 



MASTER-HALCO, INC. – SPECIAL USE AMENDMENT 

RESOLUTION NO. 2023-  

day notice to cure, and failure to comply within such time period, the Common Council, 
upon notice and hearing, may revoke the Special Use Amendment permission granted under 
this Resolution. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that any violation of any term, condition or 
restriction of this Resolution is hereby deemed to be, and therefore shall be, a violation of 
the Unified Development Ordinance, and pursuant to §15-9.0502 thereof and §1-19 of the 
Municipal Code, the penalty for such violation shall be a forfeiture of no more than 
$2,500.00, or such other maximum amount and together with such other costs and terms as 
may be specified therein from time to time. Each day that such violation continues shall be 
a separate violation. Failure of the City to enforce any such violation shall not be a waiver 
of that or any other violation. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this Resolution shall be construed to be such 
Special Use Amendment Permit as is contemplated by §15-9.0103 of the Unified 
Development Ordinance. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, pursuant to §15-9.0103G. of the Unified 
Development Ordinance, that the Special Use Amendment permission granted under this 
Resolution shall be null and void upon the expiration of one year from the date of adoption 
of this Resolution, unless the Special Use Amendment has been established by way of the 
issuance of an occupancy permit for such use. 

BE IT FINALLY RESOLVED, that the City Clerk be and is hereby directed to obtain 
the recording of a certified copy of this Resolution in the Office of the Register of Deeds for 
Milwaukee County, Wisconsin. 

Introduced at a regular meeting of the Common Council of the City of Franklin this 
19th day of December, 2023. 

Passed and adopted at a regular meeting of the Common Council of the City of 
Franklin this 19th day of December, 2023. 

APPROVED: 

John R. Nelson, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

Karen L. Kastenson, City Clerk 



MASTER-HALCO, INC. – SPECIAL USE AMENDMENT 

RESOLUTION NO. 2023-  

AYES  NOES  ABSENT  



MASTER-HALCO, INC. – SPECIAL USE AMENDMENT 

RESOLUTION NO. 2023-  

EXHIBIT A 

PLANS DATED OCTOBER 23, 2023 

ATTACHED HERETO 



STATE OF WISCONSIN        CITY OF FRANKLIN      MILWAUKEE COUNTY                     
PLAN COMMISSION Draft 11/25/2023

RESOLUTION NO. 2023-  

A RESOLUTION APPROVING A SITE PLAN AMENDMENT FOR 
THE DEVELOPMENT OF A MASTER-HALCO SALES BRANCH 

UPON PROPERTY LOCATED AT 7407 SOUTH 27TH STREET 
(BY MASTER-HALCO, INC., APPLICANT, PLATT 

CONSTRUCTION, INC., PROPERTY OWNER) 

WHEREAS, Master-Halco, Inc., having petitioned the City of Franklin for the approval 
of a Site Plan Amendment for the development of a Master-Halco Sales Branch upon Master-
Halco, Inc.’s acquisition of title of said property by conveyance from the Property Owner 
referenced above, upon property located at 7407 South 27th Street, such Site Plan and Special 
Use having been previously approved on February 4, 1992 by Resolution No. 92-3753, zoned 
B-4 South 27th Street Mixed Use Commercial District. The property which is the subject of 
the application bears Tax Key No. 761 9994 006. 

WHEREAS, the development proposes a new parking area and storm water 
management pond as well as modifications to landscaping and lighting onsite, and the Plan 
Commission having reviewed such proposal and having found same to be in compliance with 
the applicable terms and provisions of §15-3.0304 B-4 South 27th Street Mixed Use 
Commercial District of the Unified Development Ordinance and in furtherance of those 
express standards and purposes of a site plan review pursuant to Division 15-7.0100 of the 
Unified Development Ordinance. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Plan Commission of the City of 
Franklin, Wisconsin, that the Site Plan Amendment for Master-Halco, Inc. dated October 23, 
2023, as submitted by Master-Halco, Inc., as described above, be and the same is hereby 
approved, subject to the following conditions: 

1. Master-Halco, Inc., successors and assigns and any developer of the Master Halco 
project shall pay to the City of Franklin the amount of all development compliance, 
inspection and review fees incurred by the City of Franklin, including fees of consults 
to the City of Franklin, for the Master-Halco, Inc. project, within 30 days of invoice for 
same. Any violation of this provision shall be a violation of the Unified Development 
Ordinance, and subject to §15-9.0502 thereof and §1-19 of the Municipal Code, the 
general penalties and remedies provisions, as amended from time to time. 

2. The approval granted hereunder is conditional upon Master-Halco, Inc. and the Master-
Halco project for the property located at 7407 South 27th Street: (i) being in compliance 
with all applicable governmental laws, statutes, rules, codes, orders and ordinances; 
and (ii) obtaining all other governmental approvals, permits, licenses and the like, 
required for and applicable to the project to be developed and as presented for this 
approval. 



MASTER-HALCO - SITE PLAN AMENDMENT 

RESOLUTION NO. 2023-  
Page 2 

3. The Master-Halco, Inc. project shall be developed in substantial compliance with the 
plans dated October 23, 2023. 

4. Final grading, erosion control, and stormwater management plans shall be approved by 
the Engineering Department prior to any land disturbance activities. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, by the Plan Commission of the City of Franklin, 
Wisconsin, that the Master-Halco, Inc. development as depicted upon the plans dated October 
23, 2023, attached hereto as Exhibit A and incorporated herein, shall be developed and 
constructed within one year from the date of adoption of this Resolution, or this Resolution 
and all rights and approvals granted hereunder shall be null and void, without any further 
action by the City of Franklin; and the Site Plan Amendment for the property located at 7404 
South 27th Street, as previously approved, is amended accordingly.   

Introduced at a regular meeting of the Plan Commission of the City of 
Franklin this 9th day of November, 2023. 

Passed and adopted at a regular meeting of the Plan Commission of the City of Franklin 
this 7th day of December, 2023. 

APPROVED: 

John R. Nelson, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

Karen L. Kastenson, City Clerk 

AYES  NOES  ABSENT  



MASTER-HALCO - SITE PLAN AMENDMENT 

RESOLUTION NO. 2023-  
Page 3 

EXHIBIT A 

PLANS DATED OCTOBER 23, 2023 

ATTACHED HERETO 



Planning Department 
(414) 425-4024

7407 S. 27th Street
TKN: 761 9994 006

This map shows the approximate relative location of property
boundaries but was not prepared by a professional land surveyor.
This map is provided for informational purposes only
and may not be sufficient or appropriate for legal, engineering,
or surveying purposes.

B-4 

BP  

R-6 

R-6 B-4 

PRIVATE

27
TH

    
    

    
    

    
    

   S
T  

31
ST

    
    

    
    

    
    

   S
T  

 

STATESMAN WAY

N
2021 Aerial Photo

0 390 780195 Feet

Property

 



Planning Department 
(414) 425-4024

7407 S. 27th Street
TKN: 761 9994 006

This map shows the approximate relative location of property
boundaries but was not prepared by a professional land surveyor.
This map is provided for informational purposes only
and may not be sufficient or appropriate for legal, engineering,
or surveying purposes.

PRIVATE

27
TH

    
    

    
    

    
    

   S
T  

31
ST

    
    

    
    

    
    

   S
T  

 

STATESMAN WAY

MINNESOTA                      AVE  

N
2021 Aerial Photo

0 390 780195 Feet

Property

 



























Item D.2. 

1 
 

City of Franklin Department of City Development 
 
Date:  December 7, 2023 
To: Mayor John Nelson, City of Franklin 
 Plan Commission 
From: City Development Staff – Associate Planner Marion Ecks, AICP 
RE: 7979 W Ryan Rd Department of Public Works Site Plan Amendment 

 
Plan Commission heard this item at the November 9, 2023 meeting.  At that 
meeting, commission members expressed concerns about the impact on 
adjoining residential development, and requested that the City provide for a 
neighborhood meeting to allow for resident input.   
 
As a result, the Commission adopted a motion to table this item to the December 
7, 2023 meeting so staff and Alderperson can get feedback from the 
neighborhood regarding visual and sound deflection.  
 
A neighborhood meeting was held on Monday, November 27, 2023.  A summary 
of the meeting provided by City Engineer Morrow is appended here. 
 
Staff has also provided a revised Resolution reflecting the City Attorney’s 
comment that the Resolution should clarify that this is “City Application” and not 
a request of the Mayor. 



STATE OF WISCONSIN             CITY OF FRANKLIN               MILWAUKEE COUNTY 
PLAN COMMISSION 

[Draft 11/28/2023] 
RESOLUTION NO. 2023-____ 

 
A RESOLUTION APPROVING A SITE PLAN AMENDMENT FOR THE  

DEVELOPMENT A NEW STORAGE FACILITY AND PUBLIC DROP OFF AREA, UPON  
PROPERTY LOCATED AT 7979 W RYAN RD 

(CITY OF FRANKLIN {JOHN NELSON, MAYOR) APPLICANT;  
CITY OF FRANKLIN, PROPERTY OWNER) 

              

WHEREAS, the City of Franklin (John Nelson, Mayor) having petitioned the City 
of Franklin for the approval of a Site Plan Amendment to allow for development of a 
new storage facility and public drop off area, such Site Plan having been previously 
approved as part of a Zoning Permit approval for the City of Franklin Department of 
Public Works Facility and Storage Yard, on January 25, 1996; subsequently amended 
by RES 2017-005 on June 22, 2017; and RES 2019-7468 on February 19, 2019; upon 
property located at 7979 W Ryan Road, zoned I-1 Institutional District.  The property 
which is the subject of the application bears Tax Key No. 896 9990 001.  

WHEREAS, the development proposes a new storage facility and public drop 
off area and the Plan Commission having reviewed such proposal and having found 
same to be in compliance with the applicable terms and provisions of §15-3.0312: I-1 
Institutional District of the Unified Development Ordinance and in furtherance of 
those express standards and purposes of a site plan amendment review pursuant to 
Division 15-7.0100 of the Unified Development Ordinance. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Plan Commission of the City of 
Franklin, Wisconsin, that the Site Plan Amendment for Department of Public Works, 
dated October 30, 2023 as submitted by John Nelson, Mayor, City of Franklin, as 
described above, is hereby approved subject to the following conditions: 
 

1. The City of Franklin (John Nelson, Mayor), successors and assigns and any 
developer of the Department of Public Works project shall pay to the City of 
Franklin the amount of all development compliance, inspection and review 
fees incurred by the City of Franklin, including fees of consults to the City of 
Franklin, for the Department of Public Works project, within 30 days of invoice 
for same.  Any violation of this provision shall be a violation of the Unified 



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS - SITE PLAN 
RESOLUTION NO. 2023-_____ 
Page 2 
 

2 
 

Development Ordinance, and subject to §15-9.0502 thereof and §1-19 of the 
Municipal Code, the general penalties and remedies provisions, as amended 
from time to time. 

2. The approval granted hereunder is conditional upon the City of Franklin (John 
Nelson, Mayor), the Department of Public Works project for the property 
located at 7979 W Ryan Road: (i) being in compliance with all applicable 
governmental laws, statutes, rules, codes, orders and ordinances; and (ii) 
obtaining all other governmental approvals, permits, licenses and the like, 
required for and applicable to the project to be developed and as presented 
for this approval. 

3. The Department of Public Works project shall be developed in substantial 
compliance with the plans City file-stamped October 30, 2023. 

4. The Plan Commission determines that the proposed storage building is part of 
the principal use of the development, and is therefore a principal structure 
subject to the requirements of I-1 Institutional District (§15-3.0312.C). 

5. The applicant shall provide a Natural Resource Protection Plan or letter of no 
resource (§15-7.0102.G, §15-7.0103.J) prior to the issuance of a building 
permit.  

 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, by the Plan Commission of the City of Franklin, 
Wisconsin, that the Department of Public Works development as depicted upon the 
plans City file-stamped October 30, 2023 attached hereto and incorporated herein, 
shall be developed and constructed within one year from the date of adoption of 
this Resolution, or this Resolution and all rights and approvals granted hereunder 
shall be null and void, without any further action by the City of Franklin; and the Site 
Plan Amendment for the property located at 7979 W Ryan Road, as previously 
approved, is amended accordingly. 
 
  Introduced at a regular meeting of the Common Council of the City of 
Franklin this _______ day of ____________________, 2023. 
 

Passed and adopted at a regular meeting of the Common Council of the City 
of Franklin this _______ day of ____________________, 2023. 

 
 



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS - SITE PLAN 
RESOLUTION NO. 2023-_____ 
Page 3 
 

3 
 

       APPROVED: 
 
ATTEST:      _________________________________  
        John R. Nelson, Mayor 
___________________________________      
Karen L. Kastenson, City Clerk 
 
AYES ______ NOES ______ ABSENT ______ 



Planning Department 
(414) 425-4024

7979 W. Ryan Road
TKN 896 9990 001

This map shows the approximate relative location of property
boundaries but was not prepared by a professional land surveyor.
This map is provided for informational purposes only
and may not be sufficient or appropriate for legal, engineering,
or surveying purposes.

I-1 

B-3 

M-1 

M-1 

R-8 

R-8 R-8 

R-7 

R-8 

76
TH

    
    

    
    

    
    

   S
T  

RYAN                           RD  

80
TH

    
    

    
    

    
    

   S
T  

 

N
2021 Aerial Photo

0 390 780195 Feet

Property

 



Planning Department 
(414) 425-4024

7979 W. Ryan Road
TKN 896 9990 001

This map shows the approximate relative location of property
boundaries but was not prepared by a professional land surveyor.
This map is provided for informational purposes only
and may not be sufficient or appropriate for legal, engineering,
or surveying purposes.

76
TH

    
    

    
    

    
    

   S
T  

RYAN                           RD  
PARK CIRCLE WAY

80
TH

    
    

    
    

    
    

   S
T  

 

N
2021 Aerial Photo

0 390 780195 Feet

Property

 
















	01 2023-1207 Plan Commission Agenda
	02 2023-1109 PC Minutes - Draft
	03 Item C.1._Conway_Area Exception
	1 PC Staff Report - Conway AE
	2 App combined
	Letter size Documents_redu
	Revised Setback
	survey
	Elevation Drawings


	04 Item C.2. & D.1._Master Halco_Special Use-Misc-Site Plan Amendment
	01 2023-1207 PC Report - 7407 S 27th  - Master Halco Misc, SU SP
	CITY OF FRANKLIN

	02 2023-1207 RES - 7407 S 27th - Master Halco Special Use Permit_11-25-23
	03 2023-1207 RES - 7407 S 27th - Master Halco Site Plan Amendment_11-25-23
	03 Planning Map_Combined
	Planning Map_Aerial
	Planning Map_Locator

	05 CJE2238R2-Water Main Easement
	06 CJE2238R2-CIVIL SET-1
	CJE2238R2-CIVIL SET
	CJE2238R2-C1.0.pdf

	DOC110123-11012023111923

	07 AL-1-22-088 ALTA

	05 Item C.3._Glander Family Chiropractic_UDO Text Amend
	01 2023-1207 PC Report - Glander Family Chiropractic UDO TA & SU
	CITY OF FRANKLIN

	02 2023-1219 ORD - Glander Family Chiropractic UDO TA
	03 2025_CMP_Ch5_2025Future_Land_Use_Map5.7
	04 Table-15-3.0603_SIC 8041 in M-1_UDO TA

	06 Item C.4._Glander Family Chiropractic_Special Use
	01 2023-1207 PC Report - Glander Family Chiropractic UDO TA & SU
	CITY OF FRANKLIN

	02 2023-1219 RES - Glander Family Chiropractic SU
	03 Planning Map_Combined
	Planning Map_Aerial
	Planning Map_Locator

	04 revised franklin letter
	05 15-3.0700 Special Use Standards (1)
	06 Special Use Permit legal description of the property (1)
	07 Special Use Permit Site Plan

	07 Item C.5_Boomtown, LLC_Special Use Amendment
	01 PC Report - Woodfield Trail - Special Use Amend
	02 Planning Map_Combined
	Planning Map_Aerial
	Planning Map_Locator

	03 RES Woodfield Trail condominium complex SU Amend 11-20-23
	04 WOODFIELD TRAIL Exhibit A
	05 App combined
	Woodfield Trail-Special Use Amendment Application
	Woodfield Trail Project Narrative- Special Use Amendment
	General Standards-Special Use


	08 Item C.6._Mr. Greens BBQ_Special Use
	01 PC Report - 7740 Meat Smoker Enclosure & Overnight Parking SU
	CITY OF FRANKLIN

	02 RES - 7740 Mr Greens BBQ SU
	03 Planning Map_Combined
	Planning Map_Aerial
	Planning Map_Locator

	04 submittal materials
	application.pdf
	project narrative.pdf
	general standards and regulations.pdf
	legal description.pdf
	rendering.pdf
	site development photos.pdf
	site plan.pdf


	09 Item C.7._AK Developers_Special Use
	01 PC Report - 7730 Liquor Tobacco Misc Retail SU
	CITY OF FRANKLIN

	02 RES - 7730 AK Developers SU
	03 Planning Map_Combined
	Planning Map_Aerial
	Planning Map_Locator

	04 Common Council Review Application
	05 Retail Store Special Use Project Narrative_revised - 10-27-23
	06 15-3.0700 Special Use Standards_Retail Store
	07 C1.02 Proposed Site (Existing Curb)
	Sheets and Views
	C1.02 Proposed Site


	08 E4-A2.1 - FLOOR PLAN
	Sheets and Views
	D - Size



	10 Item C.8._On Cloud Wine_Special Use
	01 PC Staff Report - On Cloud Wine - Draft
	02 RES On Cloud Wine SU 11-15-23 AK
	03 Planning Map_Combined
	Planning Map_Aerial
	Planning Map_Locator

	04 Project Narrative
	05 General Standards & Regulations
	06 Staff Comments
	07 Site Plan

	11 Item C.2. & D.1._Master Halco_Special Use-Misc-Site Plan Amendment
	01 2023-1207 PC Report - 7407 S 27th  - Master Halco Misc, SU SP
	CITY OF FRANKLIN

	02 2023-1207 RES - 7407 S 27th - Master Halco Special Use Permit_11-25-23
	03 2023-1207 RES - 7407 S 27th - Master Halco Site Plan Amendment_11-25-23
	03 Planning Map_Combined
	Planning Map_Aerial
	Planning Map_Locator

	05 CJE2238R2-Water Main Easement
	06 CJE2238R2-CIVIL SET-1
	CJE2238R2-CIVIL SET
	CJE2238R2-C1.0.pdf

	DOC110123-11012023111923

	07 AL-1-22-088 ALTA

	12 Item D.2._City of Franklin_Site Plan Amendment
	01 2023-12-07 - PC Update Memo - 7979 W Ryan DPW SP
	02 2023-DRAFT - RES - 7979 W Ryan DPW SP (REVISED 11-28-23)
	03 Planning Map_Combined
	Planning Map_Aerial
	Planning Map_Locator

	04 Engineering Memo




